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PART I
References to the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” are to Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires.
Forward Looking Statements
We make forward-looking statements in this report and may make such statements in future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. We may also make
forward-looking statements in our press releases or other public or shareholder communications. Our forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and include
information about our expectations and possible or assumed future results of our operations. When we use words such as “may,” might,” “will,” “should,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“estimate,” “continue”, “predict”, “forecast”, “projected,” “intend” or similar expressions, or make statements regarding our intent, belief, or current expectations, we are making forwardlooking statements. Our forward looking statements also include, without limitation, statements about our competitors, statements regarding the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services,
or CMS, changes to its reimbursement policies and the effect on our business, statements regarding the timing and costs of obtaining FDA approval of our new SFP product, statements
regarding our new SFP product and statements regarding our anticipated future financial condition, operating results, cash flows and business plans.
We claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 for all of our forward-looking statements.
While we believe that our forward-looking statements are reasonable, you should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which are based on information available
to us on the date of this report or, if made elsewhere, as of the date made. Because these forward-looking statements are based on estimates and assumptions that are subject to significant
business, economic and competitive uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control or are subject to change, actual results could be materially different. Factors that might cause such a
difference include, without limitation, the risks and uncertainties discussed in this report, including without limitation in “Item 1A — Risk Factors,” and from time to time in our other reports
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Other factors not currently anticipated may also materially and adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows and financial
position. We do not undertake, and expressly disclaim, any obligation to update or alter any statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise except as required
by law.
Item 1.

Description of Business.

General
Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc., incorporated in the state of Michigan in 1996, manufactures hemodialysis concentrate solutions and dialysis kits, and we sell, distribute and
deliver these and other ancillary hemodialysis products primarily to hemodialysis providers in the United States as well as internationally primarily in Latin America, Asia and Europe.
Hemodialysis duplicates kidney function in patients with failing kidneys also known as End Stage Renal Disease (“ESRD”). ESRD is an advanced stage of chronic kidney disease (“CKD”)
characterized by the irreversible loss of kidney function. Without properly functioning kidneys, a patient’s body cannot get rid of excess water and toxic waste products. Without frequent and
ongoing dialysis treatments, these patients would not survive. Our dialysis solutions (also known as dialysate) are used to maintain life, removing toxins and replacing nutrients in the dialysis
patient’s bloodstream.
We have licensed and are currently developing renal drug therapies. Our lead drug development product is for iron supplementation, a key element in the formation of new red blood
cells. Iron supplementation is routinely administered to more than 90% of patients receiving treatment for anemia. We have licensed a drug therapy for the delivery of iron supplementation
for anemic dialysis patients which we refer to as dialysate iron and more specifically as soluble ferric pyrophosphate (“SFP”). To realize a commercial benefit from this therapy, and pursuant
to the licensing agreement, we must complete clinical trials and obtain U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approval to market SFP. We also plan to seek foreign market approval
for this product or to license the technology to a pharmaceutical company who will seek market approval in the licensed markets. We believe this product will substantially improve iron
maintenance therapy and, if approved, will compete for the global market
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for iron maintenance therapy. Based on reports from manufacturers of intravenous (“IV”) iron products and industry estimates, the market size in the United States for IV iron therapy for all
indications is approximately $560 million per year. We estimate the global market for IV iron therapy is in excess of $850 million per year. We cannot, however, give any assurance that this
product will be approved by the FDA or, if approved, that it will be successfully marketed.
Our Business Strategy
Our strategy is to become a leading biopharmaceutical company focused on renal indications. The following are the key elements of our business strategy:
Obtain Regulatory Approval of our Lead Drug Candidate SFP Indicated for the Treatment of Iron Deficiency Anemia.
We are conducting Phase III clinical trials for SFP and will seek to obtain FDA regulatory approval to market SFP. We intend to market SFP using our existing operating business
infrastructure which currently serves approximately 25% of the U.S. dialysis market.
Develop our Product Portfolio of Renal and Anemia Drugs, Including Extensions of SFP.
We intend to initiate clinical development and obtain FDA regulatory approval to market other extensions of drug products based upon the SFP technology. We believe our SFP
technology can be leveraged into other applications.
Identify Novel Drug Targets to Address Unmet Market Opportunities.
Our objective is to identify and validate novel drug targets for CKD, ESRD and other therapeutic areas.
Obtain Partners to Achieve Global Development and Commercialization of our Products.
We seek commercial collaborations to develop our products, obtain regulatory approval and realize financial benefits on an international or global basis. We intend to leverage the
development, regulatory and commercialization expertise of potential business partners to accelerate the development of certain potential products through licensing of selected technologies.
Acquire Rights to Complementary Drug Candidates and Technologies.
We intend to continue to selectively pursue and acquire rights to drug products in various stages of development and approval while leveraging our dialysis market position.
Continue Development of our Commercial Business and Market Position.
We intend to continue to develop our market presence in our dialysis products business, which will provide a broader platform from which we can sell new products to the dialysis
market.
Our Markets
How Hemodialysis Works
Hemodialysis patients generally receive their treatments at independent hemodialysis clinics or at hospitals. A hemodialysis provider such as a hospital or a free standing clinic uses a
dialysis station to treat patients. A dialysis station contains a dialysis machine that takes concentrate solutions primarily consisting of nutrients and minerals, such as our liquid concentrate
solutions or our concentrate powders mixed with purified water, and accurately dilutes those solutions with purified water. The resulting solution, known as dialysate, is then pumped through
a device known as a dialyzer (artificial kidney), while at the same time the patient’s blood is pumped through a semi-permeable membrane within the dialyzer. Excess water and chemicals
from the patient’s blood pass through the membrane and are carried away in the dialysate while certain nutrients and minerals in the dialysate penetrate the
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membrane and enter the patient’s blood to maintain proper blood chemistry. Dialysate generally contains dextrose, sodium chloride, calcium, potassium, magnesium, sodium bicarbonate and
acetic acid. Citric acid, which acts as an anticoagulant, may be used in place of acetic acid. The patient’s physician chooses the formula required for each patient based on each particular
patient’s needs, although most patients receive one of eight common formulations.
In addition to using concentrate solutions and chemical powders (which must be replaced for each use for each patient), a dialysis provider also requires various other ancillary
products such as blood tubing, fistula needles, specialized custom kits, dressings, cleaning agents, filtration salts and other supplies, many of which we sell.
Dialysis Industry Trends
Hemodialysis is the primary treatment modality employed in the United States with over 90% of all dialysis patients receiving hemodialysis. The Company does not compete in the
peritoneal or home dialysis segments. Hemodialysis treatments are generally performed in independent clinics or hospitals with the majority of dialysis services performed by national and
regional for profit dialysis chains. Based on data published by the U.S. Renal Data Systems (“USRDS”) we estimate that there are approximately 5,600 Medicare-certified treatment clinics
in the United States. The two largest national for-profit dialysis chains service approximately 63% of the domestic hemodialysis market. According to industry statistics published by USRDS
at the end of 2008, 371,000 patients in the United States were receiving dialysis treatments. The domestic dialysis industry has experienced steady patient population growth over the last two
decades. U.S. patient population growth has averaged approximately 3.5-4% per year over the last five years.
ESRD incidence rates vary by country with some higher and most lower than the United States. Based on industry reports, the global ESRD population receiving some form of
dialysis treatment is estimated to be over 2 million and to be growing at a rate of approximately 6% annually. The three major dialysis markets are the United States, the European Union and
Japan, which together represent approximately half of the total global treatments based on industry estimates.
Our Products
We manufacture, sell, distribute and deliver hemodialysis concentrates as well as a full line of ancillary hemodialysis products to hemodialysis providers and distributors located in
34 states and territories as well as a number of foreign countries, primarily in Latin America, Asia and Europe. Hemodialysis concentrates, which account for over 95% of our revenue, are
comprised of two primary product types, which are generally described as acidified dialysate concentrate, also known as acid concentrate, and bicarbonate.
Renal Pure® & CitraPure® Liquid Acid Concentrate
Acid concentrate generally contains either citric acid or acetic acid, along with sodium chloride, dextrose and electrolyte additives such as magnesium, potassium, and calcium. Acid
concentrate products are manufactured in three basic series to reflect the dilution ratios used in various types of dialysis machines. We supply all three series and currently manufacture
approximately 60 different liquid acid concentrate formulations. We supply liquid acid concentrate in both 55 gallon drums and in cases containing four one gallon containers. Our acetatefree, citric-acid concentrate includes citrate which acts as an anticoagulant and has been known to reduce inflammation.
Dri-Sate® Dry Acid Concentrate & Mixing System
We have 510(k) clearance from the FDA to market Dri-Sate® Dry Acid Concentrate & Mixing System. Our Dri-Sate Dry Acid Concentrate & Mixing System allows a clinic to mix
its acid concentrate on-site. The clinical technician, using a specially designed mixer, adds pre-measured packets of the necessary ingredients to 50 or 100 gallons of purified water (AMII
standard). Once mixed, the product is equivalent to the acid concentrate provided to our customers in liquid form. Clinics using Dri-Sate® Dry Acid Concentrate realize numerous
advantages, including lower cost per treatment, reduced storage space requirements, reduced number of deliveries and more flexibility in scheduling deliveries. In addition to the advantages
to our customers, our freight costs are lower for
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Dri-Sate® Dry Acid Concentrate than for acid concentrate in the liquid form. We can also realize greater productivity from our truck fleet resources delivering dry products.
RenalPure® Powder Bicarbonate Concentrate
Bicarbonate is generally sold in powder form and each clinic generally mixes bicarbonate on site as required. We offer 9 different bicarbonate powder products covering all three
series of generally used bicarbonate dilution ratios.
SteriLyte® Liquid Bicarbonate Concentrate
We have 510(k) clearance from the FDA to market SteriLyte Liquid Bicarbonate. Our SteriLyte Liquid Bicarbonate is used in both acute care and chronic care settings. Our SteriLyte
Liquid Bicarbonate offers the dialysis community a high-quality product and provides the clinic a safe supply of bicarbonate.
Ancillary Products
We offer a wide range of ancillary products including blood tubing, fistula needles, specialized custom kits, dressings, cleaning agents, filtration salts and other supplies used by
hemodialysis providers.
SFP Iron Therapy
We have licensed the exclusive right to manufacture and sell SFP, a product that we believe, if and when approved by the FDA, will substantially improve the treatment of dialysis
patients with iron deficiency, which is pervasive in the dialysis patient population. Iron deficiency in dialysis patients typically results from the continual blood losses from the dialysis
treatment coupled with the demands placed upon the body by current dialysis drug therapies. Most dialysis patients receive replacement therapy of recombinant human erythropoietin
commonly referred to as erythropoiesis stimulating agents, or ESA. An ESA is an artificial hormone that acts in the bone marrow to increase the production of red blood cells, which carry
oxygen throughout the body to nourish tissues and sustain life. Hemoglobin, an important constituent of red blood cells, is composed largely of iron and protein.
Treatment with ESA therapy requires adequate amounts of iron, as well as the rapid mobilization of iron reserves, for new hemoglobin synthesis and new red blood cell formation.
The demands of this therapy can outstrip the body’s ability to mobilize iron stores. An ESA is commonly administered as a large IV injection on an intermittent basis, which creates an
unnatural strain on the iron release process when the need for iron outstrips its rate of delivery, called functional iron deficiency. Accordingly, iron supplementation is required to maintain
proper iron balance and ensure good therapeutic response from ESA treatments. The liver is the site of most stored iron. Iron stores typically will be depleted before the production of ironcontaining proteins, including hemoglobin, is impaired. Most dialysis patients receiving ESA therapy also receive iron therapy in order to maintain sufficient iron stores and to achieve the
full benefit of ESA treatments.
Current iron therapy to the ESRD population is generally provided thorough IV parenteral iron compounds, which are ultimately taken up by the reticuloendothelial system and
primarily deposited in the liver rather than directly to blood plasma to be carried to the bone marrow. The liver slowly processes these iron deposits into a useable form. As a result of the
time it takes for the liver to process a dosage of IV iron into useable form, there can be volatility in iron stores, which can reduce the effectiveness of ESA treatments. In addition, IV iron
generally produces an inflammatory response limiting the amount of iron released from the liver.
Our SFP is distinctly different from IV iron compounds because our product transfers iron in a useable form directly from dialysate into the blood plasma, from which it is carried
directly to the bone marrow for the formation of new red blood cells. The kinetic properties of our iron compound allows for the rapid uptake of iron in blood plasma by molecules that
transport iron called transferrin. The frequency and dosage of our SFP iron delivered via dialysate is designed and intended to maintain iron balance in a steady state. We believe that this
more direct method of iron delivery will be more effective at maintaining iron balance in a steady state and achieving superior therapeutic response from ESA treatments.
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SFP has other benefits that we believe are important. Iron administered by our product bypasses the liver altogether and thereby avoids causing oxidative stress to the liver, which we
believe is a significant risk of current iron supplement therapies. In addition, we believe that clinics may realize significant drug administration savings due to decreased nursing time for
administration and elimination of supplies necessary to administer IV iron compounds.
We are currently conducting the clinical testing required to obtain FDA approval to market SFP in the United States. Our Phase III clinical program for SFP commenced in the first
quarter of 2011 and is anticipated to be completed in 2012.
Distribution and Delivery Operations
The majority of our domestic sales are delivered by our subsidiary, Rockwell Transportation, Inc. Rockwell Transportation, Inc. operates a fleet of trucks which are used to deliver
products to our customers. A portion of our deliveries, primarily to medical products distributors, is provided by common carriers chosen by us based on rates.
We perform services for customers that are generally not available from common carriers, such as stock rotation, non-loading-dock delivery and drum pump-offs. Certain of our
competitors use common carriers and/or do not perform the same services upon delivery of their products. We believe we offer a higher level of service to our customers because we use our
own delivery vehicles and drivers.
Our Dri-Sate® Dry Acid Concentrate provides an economic incentive to our customers to migrate from liquid acid dialysate in drums to our dry acid concentrate as a result of
distribution synergies realized from Dri-Sate®. As an example, a pallet containing four drums of liquid acid concentrate contains 220 gallons of liquid acid concentrate. On a pallet
containing our Dri-Sate® Dry Acid Concentrate, we can ship the equivalent of 1,200 gallons of acid concentrate in powder form. The potential distribution savings offered with Dri-Sate®
coupled with other advantages over drums make Dri-Sate® an attractive alternative for many customers.
Sales and Marketing
We primarily sell our products directly to domestic hemodialysis providers through direct salespeople employed by us and through independent sales representation companies. Our
President and Chief Executive Officer leads and directs our sales efforts to our major accounts. We also utilize independent distributors in the United States. Our products are sold to certain
international customers through independent sales agents and distributors.
Our sales and marketing initiatives are directed at purchasing decision makers at large for-profit national and regional hemodialysis chains and toward independent hemodialysis
service providers. Our marketing efforts include advertising in trade publications, distribution of product literature and attendance at industry trade shows and conferences. We target our
sales and marketing efforts to clinic administrators, purchasing professionals, nurses, medical directors of clinics, hospital administrators and nephrologists.
Competition
Dialysis Concentrate and Supplies Competition
We compete against larger and more established competitors with substantially greater financial, technical, manufacturing, marketing, research and development and management
resources. We have two major competitors. Our largest competitor is a subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care AG& Co. KGaA (“Fresenius”), which is primarily in the business of operating
dialysis clinics but also manufactures and markets dialysis devices, drugs and supplies. Globally, Fresenius is vertically integrated, manufacturing a broad range of dialysis products,
marketing several dialysis related drugs, and selling a more comprehensive line of dialysis equipment, supplies and services than we sell.
Fresenius treats over 130,000 dialysis patients in North America and operates approximately 1,800 clinics in the United States. It also has a renal products business that manufactures
a broad array of equipment and supplies, including dialysis machines, dialyzers (artificial kidneys), concentrates and other supplies used in hemodialysis. In
5

addition to its captive customer base in its own clinics, Fresenius also serves other clinic chains and independent clinics with its broad array of products where it commands a market leading
position in its key product lines. Fresenius manufactures its concentrate in its own regional manufacturing facilities. Fresenius operates an extensive warehouse network in the United States
serving its captive customer base and other independent clinics.
We also compete against Cantel Medical Corp.’s subsidiary, Minntech Corporation (“Minntech”). Minntech’s Renal Systems division primarily sells dialysis concentrates and
Renalin, a specialty reuse agent for sanitizing dialyzers. Minntech has one domestic manufacturing facility located in Minnesota. We believe Minntech primarily sells its liquid concentrate
products to domestic customers within a 300 mile radius of its facility.
In addition, we compete against other distributors with respect to certain ancillary products and supplies.
Iron Maintenance Therapy Market Competition
We intend to enter the iron maintenance therapy market for the treatment of dialysis patients with anemia. We must obtain FDA approval for our SFP to enter this market. The iron
therapy market for IV iron in the United States presently has several competitors and is dominated by two second generation IV iron drugs, Venofer® and Ferrlecit®. Venofer® is the global
market leader for IV iron therapy. Venofer® is owned by Switzerland-based Galenica. Galenica has also developed a new product, Ferinject®, for which it is seeking FDA approval.
Ferinject® is not approved for marketing in the United States. We believe that Ferinject® is primarily intended to target the pre-ESRD markets and other indications such as oncology.
In the U.S. and Canada, Galenica exclusively licenses Venofer® and Injectafer® (US brand name for Ferinject®) to Luitpold Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a wholly owned US subsidiary of
Daiichi Sankyo Company Ltd., which has entered into a corresponding ten year sublicense agreement with Fresenius to manufacture and distribute Venofer® to the dialysis market in the US
and Canada. Venofer® is currently being marketed by Fresenius in the United States to the dialysis market while Luitpold, through its subsidiary American Regent, Inc., markets Venofer for
other markets and indications including the pre-dialysis CKD market.
Sanofi-Aventis did not renew its US marketing license of Ferrlecit® with Watson Pharmaceutical, Inc. (“Watson”) and markets Ferrlecit® in the United States. Ferrlecit® is an
injectable iron supplement made of sodium ferric gluconate complex in sucrose.
Watson intends to market a generic version of Ferrlecit® in the future. Watson also markets a product called IN-FeD® which is an injectable iron supplement made of dextran and
ferric hydroxide. Watson is a large manufacturer of both generic and branded drugs.
The markets for drug products are highly competitive. Competition in drug delivery systems is generally based on marketing strength, product performance characteristics (i.e.,
reliability, safety, patient convenience) and product price. Acceptance by dialysis providers and nephrologists is also critical to the success of a product. The first product on the market in a
particular therapeutic area typically is able to obtain and maintain a significant market share. In a highly competitive marketplace and with evolving technology, additional product
introductions or developments by others might render our products or technologies noncompetitive or obsolete. In addition, pharmaceutical and medical device companies are largely
dependent upon health care providers being reimbursed by private insurers and government payors. Drugs approved by the FDA might not receive reimbursement from private insurers or
government payors.
Prior to 2011, CMS had historically paid providers for dialysis treatments under the Medicare program in two parts: the composite rate and separately reimbursed drugs and services.
The composite rate is payment for the complete dialysis treatment except for physicians’ professional services, separately billed laboratory services and separately billed drugs. CMS
reimbursement practices changed starting in 2011, which we believe may benefit our marketing efforts. CMS began implementation of a fully bundled reimbursement rate on January 1, 2011
which is intended to be fully implemented by 2014. This change is expected to result in a single composite rate per treatment, thereby eliminating reimbursement for individual drugs and
services to providers. With the implementation of a single bundled rate for dialysis treatments, most dialysis drugs will no longer receive separate reimbursement. As a result, dialysis drugs
will now likely be viewed by providers as a cost rather than as a source of revenue to the dialysis service provider. We believe that the provider market may find the potential economic
advantages of our
6

iron supplemented dialysate to be an attractive alternative to IV iron drugs. Providers may be attracted to SFP over IV iron products due to the lower cost of administration and the potential
for improved therapeutic response from costly ESA treatments.
Quality Assurance and Control
We place significant emphasis on providing quality products and services to our customers. Quality management plays an essential role in determining and meeting customer
requirements, identifying, preventing and correcting variance from specifications and improving our products. We have implemented quality systems that involve control procedures that
result in rigid conformance to specifications. Our quality systems also include assessments of suppliers of raw materials, packaging components and finished goods, and quality management
reviews designed to inform management of key issues that may affect the quality of products, assess the effectiveness of our quality systems and identify areas for improvement.
Technically trained professionals at our production facilities develop and implement our quality systems which include specific product testing procedures and training of employees
reinforcing our commitment to quality and promoting continuous process improvements. To assure quality and consistency of our concentrates, we conduct specific analytical tests during the
manufacturing process for each type of product that we manufacture. Our quality control laboratory at each facility conducts analytical tests to verify that the chemical properties of the
concentrates comply with the specifications required by industry standards. Upon verification that a batch meets those specifications, we then package those concentrates. We also test
packaged concentrates at the beginning and end of each production run to assure product consistency during the filling process. Each batch is assigned a lot number for tracking purposes and
becomes available for shipment after verification that all product specifications have been met.
We use automated testing equipment in order to assure quality and consistency in the manufacture of our concentrates. The equipment allows us to analyze the materials used in the
hemodialysis concentrate manufacturing process, to assay and adjust the in-process hemodialysis concentrate, and to assay and certify that the finished products are within the chemical and
biological specifications required by industry regulations. Our testing equipment provides us with a high degree of accuracy and efficiency in performing the necessary testing.
Government Regulation
The testing, manufacture and sale of our hemodialysis concentrates and the ancillary products we distribute are subject to regulation by numerous governmental authorities,
principally the FDA and corresponding state and foreign agencies. Under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the “FD&C Act”), and FDA regulations, the FDA regulates the preclinical and clinical testing, manufacture, labeling, distribution and marketing of medical devices. Noncompliance with applicable requirements can result in, among other things, fines,
injunctions, civil penalties, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production, failure of the government to grant pre-market clearance or pre-market approval for devices,
withdrawal of marketing clearances or approvals and criminal prosecution.
We plan to develop and commercialize selected drug candidates by ourselves such as our iron supplemented dialysate product. The development and regulatory approval process,
which includes preclinical testing and clinical trials of each product candidate, is lengthy and uncertain. Before marketing in the United States, any pharmaceutical or therapeutic product
must undergo rigorous preclinical testing and clinical trials and an extensive regulatory approval process implemented by the FDA under the FD&C Act.
Moreover, the FDA imposes substantial requirements on new product research and the clinical development, manufacture and marketing of pharmaceutical products, including testing
and clinical trials to establish the safety and effectiveness of these products.
Medical Device Approval and Regulation
A medical device may be marketed in the United States only with prior authorization from the FDA unless it is subject to a specific exemption. Devices classified as Class I devices
(general controls) or Class II devices (general
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and special controls) are eligible to seek “510(k) clearance” from the FDA. Such clearance generally is granted when submitted information establishes that a proposed device is
“substantially equivalent” to a legally marketed device that is not subject to premarket approval. A legally marketed device is a “pre-amendment” device that was legally marketed prior to
May 28, 1976. The FDA in recent years has been requiring a more rigorous demonstration of substantial equivalence than in the past, including requiring clinical trial data in some cases. For
any devices that are cleared through the 510(k) process, modifications or enhancements that could significantly affect safety or effectiveness, or constitute a major change in the intended use
of the device, will require new 510(k) submissions. We have been advised that it usually takes from three to six months from the date of submission to obtain 510(k) clearance, and may take
substantially longer. Our hemodialysis concentrates, liquid bicarbonate and other ancillary products are categorized as Class II devices.
A device which sustains or supports life, prevents impairment of human health or which presents a potential unreasonable risk of illness or injury is categorized as a Class III device.
A Class III device generally must receive approval through a pre-market approval (“PMA”) application, which requires proving the safety and effectiveness of the device to the FDA. The
process of obtaining PMA approval is expensive and uncertain. We have been advised that it usually takes from one to three years to obtain approval after filing the request, and may take
substantially longer.
If human clinical trials of a device are required, whether for a 510(k) submission or a PMA application, and the device presents a “significant risk,” the sponsor of the trial (usually
the manufacturer or the distributor of the device) will have to file an investigational device exemption (“IDE”) application prior to commencing human clinical trials. The IDE application
must be supported by data, typically including the results of animal and laboratory testing. If the IDE application is approved by the FDA and one or more appropriate Institutional Review
Boards (“IRBs”), the device may be shipped for the purpose of conducting the investigations without compliance with all of the requirements of the FD&C Act and human clinical trials may
begin. The FDA will specify the number of investigational sites and the number of patients that may be included in the investigation. If the device does not present a “significant risk” to the
patient, a sponsor may begin the clinical trial after obtaining approval for the study by one or more appropriate IRBs without the need for FDA approval.
Any devices manufactured or distributed by us pursuant to FDA clearances or approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA and certain state agencies. As
a manufacturer of medical devices for marketing in the United States we are required to adhere to regulations setting forth detailed good manufacturing practice (“GMP”) requirements,
which include testing, control and documentation requirements. We must also comply with medical device reporting regulations which require that we report to the FDA any incident in
which our products may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury, or in which our products malfunctioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, it would be likely to cause or
contribute to a death or serious injury. Labeling and promotional activities are subject to scrutiny by the FDA and, in certain circumstances, by the Federal Trade Commission. Current FDA
enforcement policy prohibits the marketing of approved medical devices for unapproved uses.
We are subject to routine inspection by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with GMP requirements and other applicable quality system regulations. We are also
subject to numerous federal, state and local laws relating to such matters as safe working conditions, manufacturing practices, environmental protection, fire hazard control, transportation
and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances.
We have 510(k) clearance from the FDA to market hemodialysis concentrates in both liquid and powder form. In addition, we have received 510(k) clearance for our Dri-Sate Dry
Acid Concentrate Mixer.
We must comply with the FD&C Act and related laws and regulations, including GMP, to retain 510(k) clearances. We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain our 510(k)
clearances from the FDA to manufacture and distribute our products. If we fail to maintain our 510(k) clearances, we may be required to cease manufacturing and/or distributing our
products, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If any of our FDA clearances are denied or rescinded, sales of our
products in the United States would be prohibited during the period we do not have such clearances.
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In addition to the regulations for medical devices covering our current dialysate products, our new product development efforts will be subject to the regulations pertaining to
pharmaceutical products. We have signed a licensing agreement for iron supplemented dialysate to be included in our dialysate products. Water soluble iron supplements when coupled with
our dialysate are intended to be used as an iron maintenance therapy for dialysis patients, and we have been advised that this dialysate iron product will be considered a drug/device
combination by the FDA. As a result, our iron maintenance therapy product will be subject to the FDA regulations for both pharmaceutical products and medical devices.
Drug Approval and Regulation
The marketing of pharmaceutical products, such as our new iron maintenance therapy product, in the United States requires the approval of the FDA. The FDA has established
regulations, guidelines and safety standards which apply to the pre-clinical evaluation, clinical testing, manufacturing and marketing of our new iron maintenance therapy product and other
pharmaceutical products. The process of obtaining FDA approval for our new product may take several years and involves the expenditure of substantial resources. The steps required before
a pharmaceutical product can be produced and marketed for human use include: (i) pre-clinical studies; (ii) submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”),
which must become effective before human clinical trials may commence in the United States; (iii) adequate and well controlled human clinical trials; (iv) submission to the FDA of a New
Drug Application (“NDA”) or, in some cases, an Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”); and (v) review and approval of the NDA or ANDA by the FDA. An NDA generally is
required for products with new active ingredients, new indications, new routes of administration, new dosage forms or new strengths. An NDA requires that complete clinical studies of a
product’s safety and efficacy be submitted to the FDA, the cost of which is substantial. The costs are often less, however, for new delivery systems which utilize already approved drugs than
for drugs with new active ingredients.
An ANDA is a marketing application filed as part of an abbreviated approval process that is available for generic drug products that have the same active ingredient(s), indication,
route of administration, dosage form and dosage strength as an existing FDA-approved product, if studies have demonstrated bio-equivalence of the new product to the FDA-approved
product. Under applicable regulations, companies that seek to introduce an ANDA product must also certify that the product does not infringe on the approved product’s patent or that such
patent has expired. If the applicant certifies that its product does not infringe on the approved product’s patent, the patent holder may institute legal action to determine the relative rights of
the parties and the application of the patent, and the FDA may not finally approve the ANDA until a court finally determines that the applicable patent is invalid or would not be infringed by
the applicant’s product.
Pre-clinical studies are conducted to obtain preliminary information on a pharmaceutical product’s efficacy and safety in animal or in vitro models. The results of these studies are
submitted to the FDA as part of the IND and are reviewed by the FDA before human clinical trials begin. Human clinical trials may begin 30 days after receipt of the IND by the FDA unless
the FDA objects to the commencement of clinical trials.
Human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap. Phase I trials consist of testing the product primarily for safety in a small number
of patients or healthy volunteers at one or more doses. In Phase II trials, the safety and efficacy of the product are evaluated in a patient population somewhat larger than the Phase I trials
with the primary intent of determining the effective dose range. Phase III trials typically involve additional testing for safety and clinical efficacy in an expanded population at a large number
of test sites. A clinical plan, or protocol, accompanied by documentation from the institutions participating in the trials, must be received by the FDA prior to commencement of each of the
clinical trials. The FDA may order the temporary or permanent discontinuation of a clinical trial at any time.
The results of product development and pre-clinical and clinical studies are submitted to the FDA as an NDA or an ANDA for approval. If an application is submitted, there can be no
assurance that the FDA will review and approve the NDA or an ANDA in a timely manner. The FDA may deny an NDA or an ANDA if applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied or it
may require additional testing, including pre-clinical, clinical and or product manufacturing tests. Even if such data are submitted, the FDA may ultimately deny approval of the product.
Further, if there are any modifications to the drug, including changes in indication, manufacturing process, labeling, or a
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change in a manufacturing facility, an NDA or an ANDA supplement may be required to be submitted to the FDA. Product approvals may be withdrawn after the product reaches the market
if compliance with regulatory standards is not maintained or if problems occur regarding the safety or efficacy of the product. The FDA may require testing and surveillance programs to
monitor the effect of products which have been commercialized, and has the power to prevent or limit further marketing of these products based on the results of these post-marketing
programs.
Manufacturing facilities are subject to periodic inspections for compliance with regulations and each domestic drug manufacturing facility must be registered with the FDA. Foreign
regulatory authorities may also have similar regulations. We expend significant time, money and effort in the area of quality assurance to fully comply with all applicable requirements. FDA
approval to manufacture a drug is site specific. In the event an approved manufacturing facility for a particular drug becomes inoperable, obtaining the required FDA approval to manufacture
such drug at a different manufacturing site could result in production delays, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Manufacturers and distributors must comply
with various post-market requirements, including adverse event reporting, re-evaluation of approval decisions and notices of changes in the product.
Other government regulations
The federal and state governments in the United States, as well as many foreign governments, from time to time explore ways to reduce medical care costs through health care reform.
Due to uncertainties regarding the ultimate features of reform initiatives and their enactment and implementation, we cannot predict what impact any reform proposal ultimately adopted may
have on the pharmaceutical and medical device industry or on our business or operating results. Recently enacted health reform legislation is likely to result in material changes to the
Medicare and Medicaid programs and levels of reimbursement and will impose excise taxes on medical devices and pharmaceutical products. Our activities are subject to various federal,
state and local laws and regulations regarding occupational safety, laboratory practices, and environmental protection and may be subject to other present and possible future local, state,
federal and foreign regulations.
The approval procedures for the marketing of our products in foreign countries vary from country to country, and the time required for approval may be longer or shorter than that
required for FDA approval. We generally depend on our foreign distributors or marketing partners to obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals to market our products in those countries
which typically do not require additional testing for products that have received FDA approval.
However, since medical practice and governmental regulations differ across regions, further testing may be needed to support market introduction in some foreign countries. Some
foreign regulatory agencies may require additional studies involving patients located in their countries. Even after foreign approvals are obtained, further delays may be encountered before
products may be marketed. Issues related to import and export can delay product introduction. Many countries require additional governmental approval for price reimbursement under
national health insurance systems.
Product License Agreements
We are party to a license agreement for SFP that covers issued patents in the United States, the European Union and Japan, as well as patent and pending patent applications in other
foreign jurisdictions. We licensed the product from a company owned by Dr. Ajay Gupta who subsequently joined us as our Chief Scientific Officer. The license agreement continues for the
duration of the underlying patents in each country, or until August 14, 2016 in the United States, and may be extended thereafter. Patents were issued in the United States in 1999 and 2004.
The European patent was issued in 2005 and extends through 2017. The Japanese patent was issued in 2007 and extends through 2017. If we are successful in obtaining FDA approval we
may apply for an extension of our patent exclusivity for up to five years. As noted below in “— Trademarks and Patents,” the Company has also received patent protection on the
pharmaceutical grade formulation of the active pharmaceutical ingredient in SFP which extends patent protection until 2029.
Our SFP license agreement requires us to obtain and pay the cost of obtaining FDA approval of the product in order to realize any benefit from commercialization of the product. In
addition to funding safety pharmacology testing, clinical trials and patent maintenance expenses, we are obligated to make certain milestone payments and to
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pay ongoing royalties upon successful introduction of the product. The milestone payments include a payment of $50,000 which will become due upon completion of Phase III clinical trials,
a payment of $100,000 which will become due upon FDA approval of the product and a payment of $175,000 which will become due upon issuance of a reimbursement code covering the
product.
Trademarks and Patents
We have several trademarks and servicemarks used on our products and in our advertising and promotion of our products, and we have applied for U.S. registration of such marks.
Most such applications have resulted in registration of such trademarks and servicemarks.
We were issued a U.S. patent on the synthesis and formulation of our pharmaceutical grade formulation of SFP. The U.S patent expires on April 17, 2029. Further patent applications
are pending in other jurisdictions including Europe, Japan and Canada.
We were also issued patents in the U.S. and Canada for our Dri-Sate Dry Acid Concentrate method and apparatus for preparing liquid dialysate which expire on September 17, 2019.
Suppliers
We believe the raw materials and packaging materials for our hemodialysis concentrates, the components for our hemodialysis kits and the ancillary hemodialysis products distributed
by us are generally available from several potential suppliers. Our principal suppliers include Church & Dwight Co. Inc., Roquette, Inc. and US Salt Company. Key suppliers of services for
our clinical trials, including contract research organizations, lab testing services and other service providers, are available from a number of potential vendors.
Customers
We operate in one market segment which involves the manufacture and distribution of hemodialysis concentrates, dialysis kits and ancillary products used in the dialysis process to
hemodialysis clinics. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, one customer, DaVita, Inc., accounted for 42%, 50% and 51% of our sales, respectively. Our accounts
receivable from this customer were $2,336,526 and $1,267,500 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We are dependent on this key customer and the loss of its business would
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, one distributor accounted for 15% of our sales in 2010 and due to credit
arrangements with this distributor no accounts receivable were due as of December 31, 2010. No other customers accounted for more than 10% of our sales.
The majority of our international sales in each of the last three years were sales to domestic distributors that were resold to end users outside the United States. Our sales to foreign
customers and distributors were less than 5% of our total sales in 2010 and 2009. We have no assets outside the United States. Our total international sales, including sales to domestic
distributors for resale outside the United States, aggregated 23%, 12%, and 10% of overall sales in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Employees
As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately 300 employees, substantially all of whom are full time employees. Our arrangements with our employees are not governed by any
collective bargaining agreement. Our employees are employed on an “at-will” basis.
Research & Development
We are required to pay the cost of obtaining FDA approval to market SFP in order to realize any benefit from commercialization of the product, which we expect will take several
years and be costly to us. We completed our pre-clinical testing in 2007 and our Phase IIb dose ranging study in late 2009. We began our Phase III clinical program in the first quarter of
2011. We engaged outside service providers, contract research organizations, consultants and legal counsel to assist us with clinical trials, product development and obtaining regulatory
approval. In addition, we incurred ongoing expenses related to obtaining additional protection of the intellectual
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property underlying our licensing agreements. In 2010, 2009 and 2008, we incurred aggregate expenses related to the commercial development of SFP of approximately $3.4 million,
$6.5 million and $3.8 million, respectively.
Where You Can Get Information We File with the SEC
Our internet address is http://www.rockwellmed.com. You can access free of charge on our web site all of our reports filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports. These
reports are available as soon as practicable after they are electronically filed with the SEC.
The SEC also maintains a website on the internet that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers, such as us, that file electronically
with the SEC. The address of the SEC’s Web site is http://www.sec.gov.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below before purchasing our common stock. The
risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks
actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations would likely suffer. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could fall, and you may lose all or part of the
money you paid to buy our common stock.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
The dialysis provider market is highly concentrated in national and regional dialysis chains that account for the majority of our domestic revenue. Our business is substantially
dependent on a few customers that account for a substantial portion of our sales. The loss of any of these customers would have a material adverse affect on our results of
operations and cash flow.
Our revenue is highly concentrated in a few customers and the loss of any of those customers could adversely affect our results. One customer in particular accounted for 42% of our
sales in 2010. If we were to lose this customer or our relationship with any of our other major national and regional dialysis chain customers, it would have a substantial negative impact on
our cash flow and operating results and could have a detrimental impact on our ability to continue our operations in their current form or to continue to execute our business strategy. If we
lost a substantial portion of our business, we would be required to take actions to conserve our cash resources and to mitigate the impact of any such losses on our business operations.
We operate in a very competitive market against substantially larger competitors with greater resources.
There is intense competition in the hemodialysis product market and our primary competitor is a large diversified company which has substantially greater financial, technical,
manufacturing, marketing, research and development and management resources than we do. We may not be able to successfully compete with them or other companies. Our primary
competitor has historically used product bundling and low pricing as marketing techniques to capture market share of the products we sell and as we do not manufacture or sell the same
breadth of products as our primary competitor, we may be at a disadvantage in competing against their marketing strategies. Furthermore, our primary competitor is vertically integrated and
is the largest provider of dialysis services in the United States with approximately one-third of all U.S. patients treated by this company through its clinics. This competitor has routinely
acquired smaller clinic chain operations and may acquire some of our current customers in the future.
Our new drug product requires FDA approval and expensive clinical trials before it can be marketed.
We are seeking FDA approval for SFP, a drug used in the treatment of anemia. Obtaining FDA approval for any drug is expensive and can take a long time. We may not be successful
in obtaining FDA approval for SFP. The FDA may change, expand or alter its requirements for testing, which may increase the scope, duration and cost of our
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clinical development plan. Clinical trials are expensive and time consuming to complete, and we may not have sufficient funds to complete the clinical trials to obtain marketing approval.
Our clinical trials might not prove successful. In addition, the FDA may order the temporary or permanent discontinuation of a clinical trial at any time. Many products that undergo clinical
trials are never approved for patient use. Thus, it is possible that our new proprietary products may never be approved to be marketed. If we are unable to obtain marketing approval, our
entire investment in new products may be worthless and our licensing rights could be forfeited.
Even if our new drug product is approved by the FDA, we may not be able to market it successfully.
Several drugs currently dominate treatment for iron deficiency and new drugs treating this indication will have to compete against existing products. It may be difficult to gain market
acceptance of a new product. Nephrologists, anemia managers and dialysis chains may be slow to change their clinical practice protocols for new products or may not change their protocols
at all.
Dialysis providers are dependent upon government reimbursement practices for the majority of their revenue. If we obtain approval for our new product, the product will be included
as part of the single bundled payment rate implemented by Medicare in 2011 and will likely not require a separate reimbursement code as nearly all providers are expected to have adopted
the single bundled payment rate prior to FDA approval to market SFP.
We may not be successful in maintaining our gross profit margins.
A significant portion of our costs are for chemicals and fuel which are subject to pricing volatility based on demand and are highly influenced by the overall level of economic
activity in the U.S. and abroad. While our gross profit margins improved substantially in 2009 and to a lesser extent in 2010, due to a variety of factors including product mix shifts to less
expensive products, reductions in fuel and chemical costs and increased product pricing, we may realize future cost and pricing pressure which may cause our gross profit margins to
decrease. We began to incur such pressures during 2010 and expect to continue to incur them in 2011.
Our products are distribution-intensive, resulting in a high cost to deliver relative to the selling prices of our products. The cost of diesel fuel represents a significant operating cost for
us. If oil costs increase or if oil prices spike upward, we may be unable to recover those increased costs through higher pricing. Also, as we increase our business in certain markets and
regions, which are farther from our manufacturing facilities than we have historically served, we may incur additional costs that are greater than the additional revenue generated from these
initiatives. Our customer mix may change to a less favorable customer base with lower gross profit margins.
Our competitors have often used bundling techniques to sell a broad range of products and have often offered low prices on dialysis concentrate products to induce customers to
purchase their other higher margin products, such as dialysis machines and dialyzers. It may be difficult for us to raise prices due to these competitive pressures.
Our suppliers may increase their prices faster than we are able to raise our prices to offset such increases. We may have limited ability to gain a raw material pricing advantage by
changing vendors for certain chemicals and packaging materials.
As we increase our manufacturing and distribution infrastructure we may incur costs for an indefinite period that are greater than the incremental revenue we derive from these
expansion efforts.
We depend on government funding of healthcare.
Many of our customers receive the majority of their funding from the government and are supplemented by payments from private health care insurers. Our customers depend on
Medicare and Medicaid funding to be viable businesses. A variety of changes to health insurance and reimbursement are included in health reform legislation recently enacted by Congress.
Some of these changes could have a negative impact on Medicare and Medicaid funding, which fund the majority of dialysis costs in the United States, and on reimbursement protocols. If
Medicare and Medicaid funding were to be materially decreased, our customers would be severely impacted, increasing our risk of not being paid in full by our customers. An increase in our
exposure to uncollectible accounts could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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In the United States, the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act of 2008 or “MIPPA” changed the dialysis reimbursement method from the prior practice of separately
billed services and medications to a single bundled rate, which became effective on January 1, 2011. Most dialysis providers are expected to adopt this method of reimbursement in 2011,
which provides for a single payment per dialysis treatment compared to the current method consisting of a composite rate payment and separately billed drugs and services. This change in
reimbursement practice was intended to reduce Medicare funding costs and to prompt dialysis providers to reduce their cost of dialysis services. This change increases the burden on dialysis
treatment providers to effectively manage their cost of treatment and operations and may put more pressure on suppliers such as us to reduce provider’s costs. As a result, we may see
increased pressure to reduce the prices of our products, which would have a negative impact on our revenue and gross profit margins. We anticipate that dialysis providers will continue to
seek ways to reduce their costs per treatment due to this change in reimbursement practice which could reduce our sales and profitability and have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
As a result of these changes to Medicare reimbursement, industry observers also anticipate increased consolidation in the dialysis provider market which has been largely unchecked
by the Federal Trade Commission to date. Continued consolidation in providers will likely result in increased purchasing leverage for providers across all dialysis product categories and
increased pricing pressure on all suppliers to the industry.
Health care reform could adversely affect our business.
The federal and state governments in the United States, as well as many foreign governments, from time to time explore ways to reduce medical care costs through health care reform.
The federal Medicare and Medicaid programs are facing financial challenges and are looking at ways to reduce the costs of the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Similarly, many states have
large deficits which may prove unsustainable, resulting in defaults on state debt obligations which may ultimately result in the reduction or curtailment of health care benefits or state
Medicaid reimbursement.
In the United States, Congress recently enacted health reform legislation that will make significant changes to the health care payment and delivery system. The health reform
legislation requires employers to provide employees with insurance coverage that meets minimum eligibility and coverage requirements or face penalties. The legislation also includes
provisions that will impact the number of individuals with insurance coverage, the types of coverage and level of health benefits that will be required and the amount of payment providers
performing health care services will receive. The legislation imposes implementation effective dates beginning in 2010 and extending through 2020. Many of the changes require additional
guidance from government agencies or federal regulations. Therefore, it is difficult to determine at this time what impact the health reform legislation will have on the Company or its
customers. The proposed changes in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, could reduce our sales and profitability and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. In addition, the health reform legislation imposes fees or excise taxes on pharmaceutical and device manufacturers based on their revenues, which could also have a
material adverse effect on the Company.
Orders from our international distributors may not result in recurring revenue.
Our revenue from international distributors may not recur consistently or at all. Such revenue is often dependent upon the availability of government funding in those nations and
there may be local, regional or geopolitical changes that impact funding of healthcare expenditures in those nations.
We depend on key personnel.
Our success depends heavily on the efforts of Robert L. Chioini, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Richard Yocum MD, our Vice President of Drug Development &
Medical Affairs, Dr. Ajay Gupta MD, our Chief Scientific Officer, and Thomas E. Klema, our Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer. Mr. Chioini is primarily responsible for
managing our sales and marketing efforts. Dr. Yocum is primarily responsible for managing our product development efforts. Dr. Gupta is primarily responsible for discovery and
development of new technologies. None of our executive management are parties to a current employment agreement with the Company. If we lose the services of Mr. Chioini, Dr. Yocum,
Dr. Gupta or Mr. Klema, our business, product development efforts, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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Our business is highly regulated.
The testing, manufacture and sale of the products we manufacture and distribute are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and by other federal, state and foreign authorities.
Before medical devices can be commercially marketed in the United States, the FDA must give either 510(k) clearance or pre-market approval for the devices. If we do not comply with
these requirements, we may be subject to a variety of sanctions, including fines, injunctions, seizure of products, suspension of production, denial of future regulatory approvals, withdrawal
of existing regulatory approvals and criminal prosecution. Our business could be adversely affected by any of these actions.
Although our hemodialysis concentrates have been cleared by the FDA, it could rescind these clearances and any new products or modifications to our current products that we
develop could fail to receive FDA clearance. If the FDA rescinds or denies any current or future clearances or approvals for our products, we would be prohibited from selling those products
in the United States until we obtain such clearances or approvals. Our business would be adversely affected by any such prohibition, any delay in obtaining necessary regulatory approvals,
and any limits placed by the FDA on our intended use. Our products are also subject to federal regulations regarding manufacturing quality. In addition, our new products will be subject to
review as a pharmaceutical drug by the FDA. The process of obtaining such approval is time-consuming and expensive. In addition, changes in applicable regulatory requirements could
significantly increase the costs of our operations and may reduce our profitability if we are unable to recover any such cost increases through higher prices.
We depend on contract research organizations and consultants to manage and conduct our clinical trials and if they fail to follow our protocol or meet FDA regulatory
requirements our clinical trial data and results could be compromised causing us to delay our development plans or have to do more testing than planned.
We utilize a contract research organization to conduct our clinical trials in accordance with a specified protocol. We also contract with other third party service providers for clinical
trial material production, packaging and labeling, lab testing, data management services as well as a number of other services. There can be no assurance that these organizations will fulfill
their commitments to us on a timely basis or that the accuracy and quality of the clinical data they provide us will not be compromised by their failure to fulfill their obligations. If these
service providers do not perform as contracted, our development plans could be adversely affected.
Foreign approvals to market our new drug products may be difficult to obtain.
The approval procedures for the marketing of our new drug products in foreign countries vary from country to country, and the time required for approval may be longer or shorter
than that required for FDA approval. Even after foreign approvals are obtained, further delays may be encountered before products may be marketed. Many countries require additional
governmental approval for price reimbursement under national health insurance systems.
Additional studies may be required to obtain foreign regulatory approval. Further, some foreign regulatory agencies may require additional studies involving patients located in their
countries.
We may not have sufficient products liability insurance.
As a supplier of medical products, we may face potential liability from a person who claims that he or she suffered harm as a result of using our products. We maintain products
liability insurance in the amount of $3 million per occurrence and $3 million in the aggregate. We cannot be sure that it will remain economical to retain our current level of insurance, that
our current insurance will remain available or that such insurance would be sufficient to protect us against liabilities associated with our business. We may be sued, and we may have
significant legal expenses that are not covered by insurance. In addition, our reputation could be damaged by product liability litigation and that could harm our marketing ability. Any
litigation could also hurt our ability to retain products liability insurance or make such insurance more expensive. Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected by an uninsured or inadequately insured product liability claim in the future.
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Our Board of Directors is subject to potential deadlock.
Our Board of Directors presently has four members, and under our bylaws, approval by a majority of the Directors is required for many significant corporate actions. It is possible
that our Board of Directors may be unable to obtain majority approval in certain circumstances, which would prevent us from taking action.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK
Shares eligible for future sale may affect the market price of our common shares.
We are unable to predict the effect, if any, that future sales of common shares, or the availability of our common shares for future sales, will have on the market price of our common
shares from time to time. Sales of substantial amounts of our common shares (including shares issued upon the exercise of stock options or warrants), or the possibility of such sales, could
adversely affect the market price of our common shares and also impair our ability to raise capital through an offering of our equity securities in the future. As of December 31, 2010 an
additional 3,318,569 shares may be issued upon exercise of outstanding warrants. In addition, as of December 31, 2010, there were an additional 20,000 warrants that become exercisable in
2011. In the future, we may issue additional shares or warrants in connection with investments or for other purposes considered advisable by our Board of Directors. Any substantial sale of
our common shares may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common shares.
In addition, as of December 31, 2010, there were 3,680,223 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding and exercisable stock options, 1,609,111 shares issuable upon the
exercise of outstanding stock options that are not yet exercisable and 310,333 additional shares available for grant under our 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan. Additional grants have been
made in 2011. The market price of the common shares may be depressed by the potential exercise of these options. The holders of these options are likely to exercise them when we would
otherwise be able to obtain additional capital on more favorable terms than those provided by the options.
The market price of our securities may be volatile.
The historically low trading volume of our common shares may also cause the market price of the common shares to fluctuate significantly in response to a relatively low number of
trades or transactions.
Voting control and anti-takeover provisions reduce the likelihood that you will receive a takeover premium.
As of December 31, 2010, our officers and directors beneficially owned approximately 24.0% of our voting shares (assuming the exercise of exercisable options granted to such
officers and directors). Accordingly, they may be able to effectively control our affairs. Our shareholders do not have the right to cumulative voting in the election of directors. In addition,
the Board of Directors has the authority, without shareholder approval, to issue shares of preferred stock having such rights, preferences and privileges as the Board of Directors may
determine. Any such issuance of preferred stock could, under certain circumstances, have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control and may adversely affect the rights of
holders of common shares, including by decreasing the amount of earnings and assets available for distribution to holders of common shares and adversely affect the relative voting power or
other rights of the holders of the common shares. In addition, we are subject to Michigan statutes regulating business combinations which might also hinder or delay a change in control.
Anti-takeover provisions that could be included in the preferred stock when issued and the Michigan statutes regulating business combinations can have a depressive effect on the market
price of our common shares and can limit shareholders’ ability to receive a premium on their shares by discouraging takeover and tender offers.
Our directors serve staggered three-year terms, and directors may not be removed without cause. Our Articles of Incorporation also set the minimum and maximum number of
directors constituting the entire Board at three and fifteen, respectively, and require approval of holders of a majority of our voting shares to amend these provisions. These provisions could
have an anti-takeover effect by making it more difficult to acquire us by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise, or to remove incumbent directors. These provisions could
delay, deter or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a shareholder might consider in his or her best interests, including those attempts that might result in a premium over the market
price for the common shares.
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We do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
Since inception, we have not paid any cash dividend on our common shares and do not anticipate paying such dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends is within
the discretion of our Board of Directors and depends upon our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and requirements, future prospects, restrictions in future financing
agreements, business conditions and other factors deemed relevant by the Board. We intend to retain earnings and any cash resources to finance our operations and, therefore, it is highly
unlikely we will pay cash dividends.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.
Item 2.

Properties.

We occupy a 51,000 square foot facility in Wixom, Michigan under a lease expiring in August 2012. We also occupy a 51,000 square foot facility in Grapevine, Texas under a lease
expiring in December 2015. In addition, we lease a 57,000 square foot facility in Greer, South Carolina under a lease expiring in February 2013.
We intend to use each of our facilities to manufacture and warehouse our products. All such facilities and their contents are covered under various insurance policies which
management believes provide adequate coverage. We also use the office space in Wixom, Michigan as our principal administrative office. With our continued growth we expect that we will
require additional office space, manufacturing capacity and distribution facilities to meet our business requirements.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings.
We are not currently subject to any litigation that we expect to have a material effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
PART II

Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our common shares trade on the Nasdaq Global Market under the trading symbol “RMTI”. The prices below are the high and low sale prices as reported by the Nasdaq Global
Market in each quarter during 2009 and 2010.
Sale Price
Quarter Ended

March 31, 2009
June 30, 2009
September 30, 2009
December 31, 2009
March 31, 2010
June 30, 2010
September 30, 2010
December 31, 2010
As of February 28, 2011, there were 31 holders of record of our common shares.
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High

Low

$4.85
$8.79
$9.39
$8.14
$8.47
$6.07
$7.65
$8.74

$2.56
$3.82
$7.20
$6.00
$5.56
$4.16
$4.75
$6.63

Dividends
Our Board of Directors has discretion whether or not to pay dividends. Among the factors our Board of Directors considers when determining whether or not to pay dividends are our
earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, future business prospects and business conditions. We have never paid any cash dividends on our common shares and do not anticipate
paying dividends in the foreseeable future. We intend to retain earnings, if any, to finance the development and expansion of our operations.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The information contained under “Item 12 — Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the heading “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” is incorporated herein by reference.
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Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative 5-year total return of holders of the Company’s common stock with the cumulative total returns of the Russell 2000 index and the
Nasdaq Biotechnology index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each of the indexes (with reinvestment of all dividends, if any) on
December 31, 2005 with relative performance tracked through December 31, 2010. The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price
performance.
COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc., The Russell 2000 Index
And The NASDAQ Biotechnology Index

*$100 invested on 12/31/05 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.
12/31/2005

Rockwell Medical
Russell 2000
NASDAQ Biotechnology

12/31/2006

100.00
100.00
100.00

159.51
118.37
99.71

12/31/2007

160.63
116.51
103.09

12/31/2008

93.74
77.15
96.34

12/31/2009

172.04
98.11
106.49

12/31/2010

176.73
124.46
114.80

The information furnished under the heading “Stock Performance Graph” shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section, and such information shall not be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data.

The financial data in the following tables should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this Form 10-K.
2010

Net sales
Cost of sales(2)
Gross profit(2)
Income from continuing operations before interest
expense and income taxes
Interest and other income, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income
Earnings per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares and
common share equivalents
Basic
Diluted

Total assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Long-term debt and capitalized lease obligations
Stockholders’ equity(1)
Book value per outstanding common share
Common shares outstanding

$59,554,592
49,693,753
9,860,839

2009

$54,729,505
46,842,334
7,887,171

(2,868,916)
185,517
(2,683,399)
—
(2,683,399)
$
$

(0.16)
(0.16)
17,111,535
17,111,535

For the Year Ended December 31,
2008

$51,666,033
49,159,478
2,506,555

(5,481,379)
(19,859)
(5,501,238)
—
(5,501,238)
$
$

(0.37)
(0.37)
14,709,016
14,709,016

2010

2009

$36,966.907
32,666,368
6,420,220
26,246,148
8,750
30,537,937
$
1.74
17,513,608

$34,879,221
29,948,945
5,536,957
24,411,988
19,062
29,323,202
$
1.70
17,200,442

2007

$43,045,304
40,156,041
2,889,263

(8,085,196)
221,139
(7,864,057)
—
(7,864,057)
$
$

(0.57)
(0.57)
13,836,435
13,836,435

As of December 31,
2008

$18,959,982
14,428,691
7,097,836
7,330,855
41,203
11,820,943
$
0.84
14,104,690

2006

$28,638,859
25,837,294
2,801,565

(3,608,353)
(110,542)
(3,718,895)
—
(3,718,895)
$
$

(0.32)
(0.32)
11,771,381
11,771,381

(4,637,830)
62,851
(4,574,979)
—
(4,574,979)
$
$

(0.41)
(0.41)
11,189,001
11,189,001

2007

2006

$22,803,134
18,645,945
4,637,271
14,008,674
204,837
17,961,026
$
1.30
13,815,186

$13,152,833
9,058,846
4,452,675
4,606,171
326,045
8,374,113
$
0.37
11,500,349

(1) There were no cash dividends paid during the periods presented. Stockholders’ equity reflects the proceeds of a private placement in 2007 and a public offering in 2009.
(2) The Company has reclassified certain expenses from Selling, General and Administrative Expense to Cost of Sales in the 2008 and 2007 consolidated income statements to conform
with current year presentation that was adopted in 2009. The impact of the change was not material. 2006 was not adjusted as the amounts were immaterial.
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Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview and Recent Developments
Rockwell Medical operates in a single business segment as a specialty pharmaceutical company offering innovative products targeting end-stage renal disease, chronic kidney disease,
and iron deficiency anemia. As an established manufacturer delivering high-quality hemodialysis concentrates to dialysis providers and distributors in the U.S. and abroad, we provide
products used to maintain human life, remove toxins and replace critical nutrients in the dialysis patient’s bloodstream.
We are currently developing unique, proprietary renal drug therapies. These novel renal drug therapies support disease management initiatives to improve the quality of life and care
of dialysis patients and are designed to deliver safe and effective therapy, while decreasing drug administration costs and improving patient convenience and outcome.
Our strategy is to develop high potential drug candidates while also expanding our dialysis products business, which had sales of $59.6 million in 2010. Our dialysis products
business was cash flow positive in 2010, which largely funded the cash requirements for our product development efforts that totaled $3.4 million in 2010.
Our product development costs were primarily related to SFP, our lead drug candidate. We believe our SFP product has unique and substantive benefits compared to current treatment
options and has the potential to compete in the iron maintenance therapy market. The cost to obtain regulatory approval for a drug in the United States is expensive and can take several
years. We expect to incur substantial costs on product testing and development over the next several years and expect to incur losses from operations until SFP is approved and marketed. In
addition to our SFP testing and approval process, we plan to spend additional amounts on testing and development of extensions of SFP technology as well as on other opportunities.
As of December 31, 2010 we had $24.2 million in cash and investments. We expect to generate additional cash from our business operations and anticipate raising additional cash
from other sources which may include the exercise of in-the money warrants, possible out-licensing of SFP technology outside the United States, licensing of certain SFP product line
extensions and other capital raising alternatives as needed.
In 2010, our business operating results continued to reflect the improvements realized since 2009 when we took actions to reduce costs and improve our pricing. We continued to
benefit from a shift to lower cost products by our customers which further improved our gross profit margins in 2010. Conversion to our Dri-Sate Dry Acid product line typically results in
lower sales and cost per treatment for the customer while the lower associated distribution costs helps to increase our gross profit margins.
While we achieved a historical annual high gross profit margin of 16.6% for 2010, we anticipate downward pressure on our gross profit margins in 2011. We anticipate that continued
increases in fuel and other costs in 2011, along with competitive pricing pressures in the renal market, will cause our 2011 gross profit margins to decline moderately from 2010 levels.
We could also experience changes in our customer and product mix in future quarters that could impact gross profit, since we sell a wide range of products with varying profit
margins and to customers with varying order patterns. These changes in mix may cause our gross profit and our gross profit margins to vary period to period. As we add business in certain
markets and regions in order to increase the scale of our business operations, we may incur additional costs that are greater than the additional revenue generated from these initiatives until
we have achieved a scale of operations that is profitable.
The majority of our business is with domestic clinics who order routinely. Certain major distributors of our products internationally have not ordered consistently, however, resulting
in variation in our sales from period to period. We anticipate that we will realize substantial orders from time to time from our largest international distributors but we expect the size and
frequency of these orders to fluctuate from period to period. These orders may increase in future periods or may not recur at all.
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Results of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended December 31, 2009
Sales
In 2010, our sales were $59.6 million, an increase of $4.8 million or 8.8% over 2009. This increase was primarily due to increased international sales of $7.4 million or 113% partially
offset by a $2.8 million or 5.8% decrease in domestic sales. Our international sales in 2010 were 23% of total sales compared to 12% of sales in 2009. The increase in our international sales
was primarily due to increased sales to a single distributor. Our domestic sales were negatively impacted by customer conversions to lower cost formulations and conversions to Dri-Sate Dry
Acid product line resulting in lower sales but at higher gross profit levels. Customers continue to migrate from liquid to dry acid concentrate with unit volumes up 28% in 2010 over 2009. In
2010, we received a research grant of $0.25 million from the U.S. government for SFP related research and testing which was recorded in sales.
Gross Profit
Our gross profit in 2010 was $9.9 million, an increase of $2.0 million or 25% over 2009. Our gross profit margins increased to 16.6% in 2010 compared to 14.4% in 2009. The
improvement in our gross profit was primarily due to significant changes to our product mix over the last two years coupled with lower operating and procurement costs along with higher
selling prices. Our product mix was favorably impacted by the continued conversion of customers to our Dri-Sate product line and to lower cost formulations of our dialysis concentrates. We
also realized increased sales volumes in 2010 which contributed to the increase in our overall gross profit. These gains were partially offset by moderate increases in material, fuel and other
operational costs over 2009.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses were $9.3 million in 2010 compared to $6.9 million in 2009, an increase of $2.4 million, which was primarily due to increases in noncash charges for equity compensation ($1.7 million), compensation ($0.5 million) and other operating expenses ($0.2 million). Non-cash equity compensation aggregated $4.0 million in
2010 compared to $2.35 million in 2009 with approximately $0.25 million of the increase due to non-employee equity compensation.
Research and Development
We incurred product development and research costs related to the commercial development, patent approval and regulatory approval of new products, including SFP, aggregating
approximately $3.4 million and $6.5 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Costs incurred in both 2010 and 2009 were primarily for conducting human clinical trials of SFP and other SFP
testing and development activities. During 2009, we conducted a Phase IIb study, which was completed in late 2009. Our SFP Phase III clinical program commenced in early 2011 and we
expect to see research and development spending increase over 2010 levels as a result.
Interest Income and Expense, Net
Net interest income in 2010 increased by $205,000 compared to 2009 primarily due to a $190,000 increase in interest income from our cash investments as a result of higher
investable funds resulting from the proceeds of the October 2009 equity offering.
Income Tax Expense
We have substantial tax loss carryforwards from our earlier losses. We have not recorded a federal income tax benefit from either our prior losses or our current year losses because
we might not realize the carryforward benefit of the remaining losses.
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For the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to the year ended December 31, 2008
Sales
In 2009, our sales were $54.7 million, an increase of $3.1 million or 5.9% over 2008. This increase was due to growth in both our domestic sales of $1.6 million or 3.3% and in our
international sales of $1.5 million or 30%. Our international sales were 12% of total sales in 2009 compared to 10% of sales in 2008. The majority of our sales growth in 2009 came from unit
volume growth primarily in our Dri-Sate Dry Acid product line as customers continued to migrate from liquid to dry acid concentrate, and to a lesser extent from conversion from higher cost
formulations to lower cost formulations. In addition, our average selling prices increased approximately 2.3% in 2009.
Gross Profit
Our gross profit in 2009 was $7.9 million, an increase of $5.4 million or 215% over 2008. Our gross profit margins increased to 14.4% in 2009 compared to 4.9% in 2008. The
improvement in our gross profit was primarily due to significant changes to our product mix coupled with lower operating and procurement costs and higher sales prices. Our product mix
was favorably impacted by the continued conversion of customers to our Dri-Sate product line and to lower cost formulations of our dialysis concentrates. Dri-Sate case volume increased by
35% in 2009 compared to 2008. We also benefitted from lower diesel fuel costs and chemical procurement costs.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative, or “SG&A,” expenses were $6.9 million or 12.6% of sales in 2009 compared to 13.1% of sales in 2008. SG&A costs increased $0.15 million
compared to 2008, primarily due to an increase in non-cash charges for equity compensation, which aggregated $2.35 million in 2009 compared to $1.45 million in 2008, and minor increases
in compensation and other operating expense. The increase was offset by the effect of legal and settlement costs of $925,000 related to the settlement of certain litigation in 2008.
Research and Development
We incurred product development and research costs related to the commercial development, patent approval and regulatory approval of new products, including SFP, aggregating
approximately $6.5 million and $3.8 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Costs incurred in both 2009 and 2008 were primarily for conducting human clinical trials of SFP.
Interest Expense, Net
Net interest expense in 2009 increased by $241,000 compared to 2008 primarily due to a $268,000 reduction in interest income from our cash investments as a result of lower
investable funds and a substantially lower interest rate environment in 2009 compared to 2008. The investment of the proceeds of the October 2009 equity offering in short term investments
had an immaterial effect on interest income in 2009.
Income Tax Expense
We have substantial tax loss carryforwards from our earlier losses. We have not recorded a federal income tax benefit from either our prior losses or our current year losses because
we might not realize the carryforward benefit of the remaining losses.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These
accounting principles require us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, and contingencies. All significant
estimates, judgments and assumptions are developed based on the best information available to us at the time made and are regularly reviewed and updated when necessary. Actual results
will generally differ from these estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in our financial statements in the period of
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change based upon on-going actual experience, trends, or subsequent realization depending on the nature and predictability of the estimates and contingencies.
Interim changes in estimates are generally applied prospectively within annual periods. Certain accounting estimates, including those concerning revenue recognition, allowance for
doubtful accounts, impairments of long-lived assets, and accounting for income taxes, are considered to be critical in evaluating and understanding our financial results because they involve
inherently uncertain matters and their application requires the most difficult and complex judgments and estimates. These are described below. For further information on our accounting
policies, see Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Revenue recognition
We recognize revenue at the time we transfer title to our products to our customers consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Our products are generally sold
domestically on a delivered basis and as a result we do not recognize revenue until delivered to the customer with title transferring upon completion of the delivery. For our international
sales, we recognize revenue upon the transfer of title as defined by standard shipping terms and conventions uniformly recognized in international trade.
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable are stated at invoice amounts. The carrying amount of trade accounts receivable is reduced by an allowance for doubtful accounts that reflects our best estimate
of accounts that may not be collected. We review outstanding trade account receivable balances and based on our assessment of expected collections, we estimate the portion, if any, of the
balance that may not be collected as well as a general valuation allowance for other accounts receivable based primarily on historical experience. All accounts or portions thereof deemed to
be uncollectible are written off to the allowance for doubtful accounts. If we underestimate the allowance, we would incur a current period expense which could have a material adverse
effect on earnings.
Impairments of long-lived assets
We account for impairment of long-lived assets, which include property and equipment, amortizable intangible assets and goodwill, in accordance with authoritative accounting
pronouncements. An impairment review is performed annually or whenever a change in condition occurs which indicates that the carrying amounts of assets may not be recoverable. Such
changes may include changes in our business strategies and plans, changes to our customer contracts, changes to our product lines and changes in our operating practices. We use a variety of
factors to assess the realizable value of long-lived assets depending on their nature and use.
Goodwill is not amortized; however, it must be tested for impairment at least annually. The goodwill impairment analysis is based on the fair market value of our common shares.
Amortization continues to be recorded for other intangible assets with definite lives over the estimated useful lives. Intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for potential
impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that carrying amounts may not be recoverable based on future cash flows. If we determine that goodwill has been impaired, the change
in value will be accounted for as a current period expense and could have a material adverse effect on earnings.
Accounting for income taxes
We estimate our income tax provision to recognize our tax expense and our deferred tax liabilities and assets for future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our
financial statements using current enacted tax laws. Deferred tax assets must be assessed based upon the likelihood of recoverability from future taxable income and to the extent that
recovery is not likely, a valuation allowance is established. The allowance is regularly reviewed and updated for changes in circumstances that would cause a change in judgment about
whether the related deferred tax asset may be realized. These calculations and assessments involve complex estimates and judgments because the ultimate tax outcome can be uncertain and
future events unpredictable. If we determine that the deferred tax asset will be realized in the future, it may result in a material beneficial effect on earnings.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our strategy is centered on obtaining regulatory approval to market SFP and developing other high potential drug candidates, while also expanding our dialysis products business. We
expect to expend substantial amounts in support of our clinical development plan and regulatory approval of SFP and its extensions and other product development opportunities. These
initiatives will require the expenditure of substantial cash resources. We expect our cash needs for research and development spending to increase substantially in 2011 over 2010 as clinical
development and patient testing activities increase for our Phase III clinical testing program for SFP. The timing and magnitude of such spending is largely dependent upon the initiation and
pace of execution of the Phase III trials. We will invest in our Phase III clinical development program as well as other development initiatives over the next two years.
Our cash resources include cash generated from our business operations and the proceeds from our equity offering in 2009. Our current assets exceeded our current liabilities by over
$26.2 million as of December 31, 2010 and included $24.2 million in cash and short term investments. In 2010, we generated $2.1 million in cash from operating activities which included
research and product development costs of $3.4 million. Cash generated from improved operating results was partially offset by a $1.0 million increase in accounts receivable as a result of a
large early payment made prior to year end which temporarily decreased accounts receivable at December 31, 2009. In 2010, we invested $0.8 million in capital expenditures compared to
depreciation expense of $1.3 million.
We believe our current and prospective sources of cash resources are sufficient to fund our anticipated research and development activities as well as our ordinary course operating
cash requirements in 2011 and 2012. We expect to generate positive cash flow from operations in 2011, excluding the effect of our research and development expenses, assuming relative
stability in the markets for fuel and our key raw materials and relatively stable revenues. In addition, we may realize substantial cash proceeds from warrants that expire in each of the next
two years. However, if we use more cash than anticipated for SFP development, or are required to do more testing than expected or if the assumptions underlying our cash flow projections
for the next two years prove to be incorrect, or if we pursue opportunities to expand our business, we may need to obtain additional cash, such as through equity financing, debt financing of
capital expenditures or a line of credit, to supplement our working capital. We explore opportunities from time to time to increase our cash resources, to reduce our liquidity risk and to have
resources available to permit us to pursue expansion opportunities. Alternatively, we may seek to enter into product development arrangements with an international partner in order to fully
execute our strategic plan. We may also evaluate alternative sources of business development funding, licensing agreements with international marketing partners, sub-licensing of certain
products for certain markets and other potential funding sources.
Contractual Obligations
The following table details our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2010:
Payments due by period
Contractual Obligations

Capital leases
Operating leases
Purchase obligations
Total

Less than
1 year

Total

$
$
$

29,623
4,149,849
—
4,179,472

$
$
$

20,062
1,734,707
—
1,754,769

1-3 years

$
$
$

9,561
2,243,913
—
2,253,474

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our financial condition.
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3-5 years

$
$

—
171,229
—
171,229

More than
5 years

—
—
—
—

Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risk
Our current exposure to interest rate risk is limited to changes in interest rates on short term investments of cash. As of December 31, 2010, we had $8.5 million in short term
investments in a money market fund and $11.9 million in short term bond funds.
A hypothetical 100 basis point increase in market interest rates for short term liquid investments would increase our annualized interest income by approximately $0.1 million,
assuming we invested $8.5 million in short term investments and that level remained constant for the year. We did not perform an analysis of a 100 basis point decrease in market interest
rates as such an analysis would be meaningless.
We have invested $11.9 million in available for sale securities which are invested in short term bond funds which typically yield higher returns than the interest realized in money
market funds. While these funds hold bonds of short term duration, their market value is affected by changes in interest rates. Increases in interest rates will reduce the market value of bonds
held in these funds and we may incur unrealized losses from the reduction in market value of the fund. If we liquidate our position in these funds, those unrealized losses may result in
realized losses which may or may not exceed the interest and dividends earned from those funds. However, due to the short duration of these short term bond fund portfolios, we do not
believe that a hypothetical 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates will have a material impact on the value of our investment portfolio.
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
Our international business is conducted in U.S. dollars. It has not been our practice to hedge the risk of appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the predominant currencies of our
trading partners. We have no significant foreign currency exposure to foreign supplied materials, and an immediate 10% strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar would not have a
material impact on our shareholders’ equity or net income.
Item 8.

Financial Statements.
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant required by this item are set forth on pages F-1 through F-20 and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9.

Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure material information required to be disclosed in our reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required financial disclosure. In designing and evaluating
the disclosure controls and procedures, we recognized that a control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected. Management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls
and procedures.
As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. We maintain internal control over financial reporting designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Therefore, internal control over financial reporting determined to be effective provides only reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2010. In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management used the criteria described in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Our evaluation included documenting, evaluating and testing of the design and operating
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Based on this evaluation, we concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2010.
Plante & Moran, PLLC, an independent registered public accounting firm, as auditors of our consolidated financial statements, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010. Plante & Moran, PLLC’s report, which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting, is included herein.
Changes in Internal Controls
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the Company’s evaluation of such internal controls that occurred during our fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2010 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B.

Other Information.

None.
PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The required information will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and
(excluding the Report of the Audit Committee) is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation.

The required information will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Compensation of Executive Officers and Directors,” “Other Information Relating to Directors”
and “Compensation Committee” and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The required information will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Voting Securities and Principal Holders” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table summarizes our compensation plans, including individual compensation arrangements, under which our equity securities are authorized for issuance as of
December 31, 2010:

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants
and rights
(a)

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(b)

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance under
equity compensation plans (excluding
securities reflected in column (a))
(c)

5,289,334

$

4.52

310,333

1,180,200
6,469,534

$
$

5.77
4.75

310,333

In 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010, we issued warrants to purchase common shares pursuant to compensation arrangements with various non-employee consultants who provide (or
provided) services to us, including providing investor relations consulting services and introducing the Company to potential licensing partners and acquisition candidates and acting as a
liaison to the equity investment community. These were not issued under a preexisting plan and shareholder approval for these transactions was not required or sought. The exercise price and
the number of shares of common stock purchasable upon exercise of the warrants are subject to adjustment in certain events including: (a) a stock dividend payable in common stock, stock
split, or subdivision of our common stock; and (b) reclassification of our common stock or any reorganization, consolidation, merger, or sale, lease, license, exchange or other transfer of all
or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company.
As of October 3, 2007, we entered into a consulting agreement pursuant to which we have issued warrants to acquire 135,000 Common Shares. The warrants were earned at the rate
of 15,000 warrants per month of service. The first 90,000 warrants that were earned have an exercise price of $7.00 per share and the remaining 45,000 warrants have an exercise price of
$7.50 per share and in each case are exercisable for cash. The warrants expire at the close of business on October 3, 2011. These warrants became exercisable on the first anniversary of the
date on which they were earned and may be exercised in whole or in part at any time until their expiration. The Common Shares underlying these warrants have been registered for resale by
the holder under the Securities Act of 1933.
On November 28, 2007, we entered into an agreement pursuant to which we issued warrants to acquire 80,000 Common Shares at an exercise price of $10.00 per share, exercisable
for cash at any time during the period from November 28, 2008 to November 28, 2012. The Common Shares underlying these warrants have been registered for resale by the holder under
the Securities Act of 1933.
On May 28, 2008, we entered into an advisory agreement pursuant to which we issued warrants to acquire 100,000 Common Shares. The warrants were immediately earned and
became exercisable on May 28, 2009. The warrants will expire on May 28, 2012. The warrants would have expired upon a termination of the agreement prior to May 28, 2009 (A) by us due
to a material breach of the agreement by the consultant or (B) by the consultant. The warrants have an exercise price of $9.00 per share and may be exercised on a cashless basis or for cash.
The Common Shares underlying these warrants have been registered for resale by the holder under the Securities Act of 1933. During 2010, we agreed to extend the term and revise the
exercise price of these warrants in consideration for additional services. The exercise price of these warrants was reduced to $8.00 from $9.00 and their term extended by one year to May 28,
2013.
On September 30, 2008, we entered into an advisory agreement pursuant to which we issued warrants to acquire 60,000 Common Shares. The warrants were earned in 20,000 share
increments on September 30, 2008, January 1, 2009 and July 1, 2009. The warrants became exercisable on January 1, 2010 and will expire on September 30, 2012. Upon a termination of the
agreement (A) by us due to a material breach of the agreement by the consultant or (B) by the consultant, any unearned warrants at the time of such termination would have expired. The
warrants have an
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exercise price of $6.50 per share and may be exercised on a cashless basis or for cash. The Common Shares underlying these warrants have been registered for resale by the holder under the
Securities Act of 1933.
In November 2008, the Company entered into an advisory agreement, as amended, pursuant to which we issued warrants to acquire a total of 700,000 Common Shares. All of the
warrants were immediately earned. Warrants to purchase 300,000 Common Shares at an exercise price of $1.99 per share became exercisable on November 5, 2009, and will expire on
November 5, 2011. The warrants would have expired upon an earlier termination of the agreement prior to November 5, 2009 (A) by us due to a material breach of the agreement by the
consultant or (B) by the consultant. Warrants to purchase 400,000 Common Shares will become exercisable on November 5, 2010, and will expire on the earlier of (i) November 5, 2011, or
(ii) the termination of the agreement prior to November 5, 2010 (A) by us due to a material breach of the agreement by the consultant or (B) by the consultant. One-half of these warrants
have an exercise price of $4.54, and the remainder have an exercise price of $7.00 per share. The warrants are exercisable only for cash. The Common Shares underlying these warrants have
been registered for resale by the holder under the Securities Act of 1933.
On September 29, 2009, the Company entered into a placement agency agreement with two co-placement agents related to the registered direct offering by the Company of Common
Shares and warrants to purchase Common Shares that closed on October 5, 2009. At the closing, the Company issued to the placement agents warrants to purchase 85,200 Common Shares,
which was 3.0% of the Common Shares sold in the offering, at an exercise price of $9.55 per share. These warrants became exercisable six months after the date of issuance thereof and
expire October 5, 2012. These warrants and the underlying shares were issued pursuant to registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-160791) filed with the SEC.
On March 8, 2010, we entered into an advisory agreement pursuant to which we issued warrants to acquire 20,000 Common Shares . The warrants were issued as compensation for
investor relations consulting services. The advisory agreement was scheduled to terminate on December 31, 2010 but could be terminated by either party upon 30 days prior written notice.
The warrants were to be earned in 5,000 share increments on March 8, 2010, April 1, 2010, July 1, 2010, and October 1, 2010. The warrants will become exercisable on March 8, 2011 and
will expire on March 8, 2013. Upon a termination of the advisory agreement (A) by us due to a material breach of the agreement by RJ Aubrey or (B) by RJ Aubrey, any unearned warrants
at the time of such termination would expire. The warrants have an exercise price of $6.14 per share. Once exercisable, the warrants may be exercised in whole or in part at any time until
their expiration by the submission of an exercise notice accompanied by payment of the exercise price in cash or certified check or by cashless exercise. The agreement was terminated prior
to the final installment being earned, such that only 15,000 of the warrants became earned.
On September 1, 2010, we issued 5,000 warrants with an exercise price of $8.00 as consideration for services . The warrants become exercisable on September 1, 2011 and may be
exercised in whole or in part at any time until their expiration by the submission of an exercise notice accompanied by payment of the exercise price in cash or certified check or by cashless
exercise. The warrants will expire on the earlier of (i) May 28, 2013, or (ii) the termination of the agreement prior to September 1, 2011 (A) by us due to a material breach of the agreement
by the holder or (B) by the holder.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

The required information will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Other Information Relating to Directors” and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The required information will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Independent Accountants” and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The financial statements and schedule filed herewith are set forth on the Index to Financial Statements and Schedule of the separate financial section of this annual report, which is
incorporated herein by reference.
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(b)

Exhibits

The following documents are filed as part of this report or were previously filed and incorporated herein by reference to the filing indicated. Exhibits not required for this report have
been omitted. Our Commission file number is 000-23-661.
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12
4.13
*10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.10
10.11
*10.16

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, dated as of June 4, 2008 (Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 12, 2008).
Amended and Restated Bylaws (Company’s Form 8-K filed November 25, 2008).
Form of Warrant (Company’s Form 8-K filed December 4, 2007).
RJ Aubrey Warrant Agreement, dated November 28, 2007 (Company’s Form 8-K filed December 4, 2007).
Form of Investor Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issuable by the Company to the investor signatories to the Subscription Agreement, filed as exhibit F to the
Placement Agency Agreement (Company’s Form 8-K filed September 30, 2009).
Form of Placement Agent Warrant issuable by the Company to JMP Securities LLC and Wedbush Securities Inc. (Company’s Form 8-K filed September 30, 2009).
Warrant issued to RJ Aubrey IR Services LLC as of September 30, 2008 (Company’s Form S-3 (file no. 333-160710)).
Warrant issued to Lions Gate Capital as of October 3, 2007 (Company’s Form S-3 (file no. 333-160710)).
Warrant issued to Capitol Securities Management, Inc. as of May 28, 2008 (Company’s Form S-3 (file no. 333-160710)).
Warrant issued to Emerald Asset Advisors, LLC as of November 5, 2008 (Company’s Form S-3 (file no. 333-160710)).
Form of Warrant issued to Messrs. Rick, Pizzirusso, Ries, Meyers and Pace as of July 17, 2009 (Company’s Form S-3 (file no. 333-160710)).
Warrant issued to RJ Aubrey IR Services LLC as of March 8, 2010. (Company’s Form 10-Q filed May 7, 2010).
Warrant issued to Capitol Securities Management, Inc. as of September 1, 2010 (Company’s Form 8-K filed September 2, 2010).
Form of Amended and Restated Warrant issued to Messrs. Rick, Pizzirusso, Ries, Meyers, Pace and Bailey as of September 1, 2010 (Company’s Form 8-K filed September
2, 2010).
Warrant issued to DaVita Inc. as of February 16, 2011 (Company’s Form 8-K filed February 23, 2011).
Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan (Company’s Proxy Statement filed April 17, 2006).
Lease Agreement dated March 12, 2000 between the Company and DFW Trade Center III Limited Partnership (Company’s Form 10-KSB filed March 30, 2000.)
Lease Agreement dated October 23, 2000 between the Company and International-Wixom, LLC (Company’s Form 10-KSB filed April 2, 2001.)
Licensing Agreement between the Company and Charak LLC and Dr. Ajay Gupta dated January 7, 2002 (with certain portions of the exhibit deleted under a request for
confidential treatment under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) (Company’s Form 10-KSB filed April 1, 2002).
Second Amendment of Industrial Lease Agreement between Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and DCT DFW, LP dated August 17, 2005 (Company’s Form 8-K filed
August 19, 2005).
Amending Agreement made the 16th day of January, 2006, by and between Dr. Ajay Gupta, Charak LLC and Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. (Company’s Form 10KSB filed March 31, 2006).
Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (Company’s Proxy Statement filed April 18, 2007).
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10.17
10.18
10.19
*10.20
*10.21
10.22
*10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
*10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
*10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38

Consulting Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2007 (Company’s Form 8-K filed October 9, 2007).
Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated November 28, 2007, between the Company and certain Purchasers (Company’s Form 8-K filed December 4, 2007).
Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 28, 2007, between the Company and certain Purchasers (Company’s Form 8-K filed December 4, 2007).
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (Director Version) (Company’s Form 8-K filed December 20, 2007).
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (Employee Version) (Company’s Form 8-K filed December 20, 2007).
Lease Agreement dated March 19, 2008 between the Company and EZE Management Properties Limited Partners (Company’s Form 10-K filed March 24, 2008).
Amendment No. 1 to Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (Company’s Form 8-K filed May 30, 2008).
Advisory Agreement dated May 28, 2008 between the Company and Capitol Securities Management, Inc. (Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 12, 2008).
Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement dated September 24, 2008 by and among the Company, FWLL, LLC and ST Holdings, Inc (Company’s Form 10-Q filed
November 13, 2008).
Advisory Agreement dated September 30, 2008 between the Company and RJ Aubrey IR Services LLC (Company’s Form 10-Q filed November 13, 2008).
Advisory Agreement dated November 5, 2008 between the Company and Emerald Asset Advisors, LLC (Company’s Form 10-Q filed November 13, 2008).
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Executive Version) (Company’s Form 8-K filed November 25, 2008).
Amendment to Advisory Agreement dated November 21, 2008 between the Company and Emerald Asset Advisors, LLC (Company’s Form 10-K filed March 16, 2009).
Lease Renewal dated August 21, 2008 between the Company and International-Wixom, LLC with respect to the Lease Agreement dated October 23, 2000 (Company’s
Form 10-K filed March 16, 2009).
Second Amendment dated November 18, 2008 to the Supply Agreement between the Company and DaVita, Inc. dated May 5, 2004 (with certain portions of the exhibit
deleted under a request for confidential treatment under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) (Company’s Form 10-K filed March 16, 2009).
Amendment No. 2 to Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 10, 2009).
Placement Agency Agreement with JMP Securities LLC and Wedbush Securities Inc. dated September 29, 2009 (including the form of Subscription Agreement included
as Exhibit A thereto) (Company’s Form 8-K filed September 30, 2009).
Advisory Agreement dated March 8, 2010 between the Company and RJ Aubrey IR Services LLC (Company’s Form 10-Q filed May 7, 2010).
Third Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement between Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and DCT DFW, LP dated July 7, 2010 (Company’s Form 8-K filed on
July 13, 2010).
Amendment No. 3 to Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (Company’s Proxy Statement filed April 15, 2010).
Lease Renewal Agreement dated August 27, 2010, by and between Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and International-Wixom, LLC (Company’s Form 8-K filed
September 2, 2010).
Advisory Agreement dated September 1, 2010 between the Company and Capitol Securities Management, Inc. (Company’s Form 8-K filed September 2, 2010).
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10.39
10.40
14.1
21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1

Products Purchase Agreement dated February 16, 2011, by and between Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and DaVita Inc (with certain portions deleted pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).
Agreement to Extend the Lease Agreement, Options to Purchase and Option to Lease dated February 17, 2011, by and between Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and
EZE Management Properties Limited Partnership (Company’s Form 8-K filed February 24, 2011).
Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. Code of Ethics (Company’s Proxy Statement filed April 23, 2004).
List of Subsidiaries (Company’s Form SB-2 (file No. 333-31991)).
Consent of Plante & Moran, PLLC.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

* Current management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.
32

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. (Registrant)

By:

/s/ ROBERT L. CHIOINI
Robert L. Chioini
President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 7, 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ ROBERT L. CHIOINI
Robert L. Chioini

President, Chief Executive officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

March 7, 2011

/s/ THOMAS E. KLEMA
Thomas E. Klema

Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial
Officer, Treasurer and Secretary (Principal
Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

March 7, 2011

/s/ KENNETH L. HOLT
Kenneth L. Holt

Director

March 7, 2011

/s/ RONALD D. BOYD
Ronald D. Boyd

Director

March 7, 2011

/s/ PATRICK J. BAGLEY
Patrick J. Bagley

Director

March 7, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary (the Company) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010. Our audits also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and
Subsidiary at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 7, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.
/s/ Plante & Moran, PLLC
Clinton Township, Michigan
March 7, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary
We have audited Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Rockwell Medical
Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary (the Company) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010 and related financial statement schedule and our report dated March 7, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Plante & Moran, PLLC
Clinton Township, Michigan
March 7, 2011
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ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009
December 31,
2010

December 31,
2009

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments Available for Sale
Accounts Receivable, net of a reserve of $23,000 in 2010 and $31,000 in 2009
Inventory
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Property and Equipment, net
Intangible Assets
Goodwill
Other Non-current Assets
Total Assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capitalized Lease Obligations
Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Customer Deposits
Total Current Liabilities
Capitalized Lease Obligations
Shareholders’ Equity:
Common Shares, no par value, 17,513,608 and 17,200,442 shares issued and outstanding
Common Share Purchase Warrants, 3,338,569 and 3,318,569 warrants issued and outstanding
Accumulated Deficit
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Total Shareholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities And Shareholders’ Equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
F-3

$

$

12,263,449
11,938,098
4,507,296
2,936,878
1,020,647
32,666,368
3,049,513
166,657
920,745
163,624
36,966,907

$

18,215
3,659,507
2,577,022
165,476
6,420,220
8,750

$

57,017,236
8,275,509
(34,541,185)
(213,623)
30,537,937
36,966,907

$

$

23,038,095
—
3,492,622
3,088,352
329,876
29,948,945
3,631,549
214,337
920,745
163,645
34,879,221
42,938
3,388,757
1,854,347
250,915
5,536,957
19,062
53,545,394
7,635,594
(31,857,786)
—
29,323,202
34,879,221

ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
For The Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
2010

Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Selling, General and Administrative
Research and Product Development
Operating Income (Loss)
Interest and Dividend Income
Interest Expense
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
Net Income (Loss)

$

Basic And Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

2009

$

$

59,554,592
49,693,753
9,860,839
9,307,621
3,422,134
(2,868,916)
195,218
9,701
(2,683,399)
—
(2,683,399)

$

(.16)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
F-4

2008

$

$

54,729,505
46,842,334
7,887,171
6,914,198
6,454,352
(5,481,379)
5,320
25,179
(5,501,238)
—
(5,501,238)

$

51,666,033
49,159,478
2,506,555
6,761,617
3,830,134
(8,085,196)
273,500
52,361
(7,864,057)
—
(7,864,057)

$

(.37)

$

(.57)

ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY &
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For The Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Shares

Balance as of December 31, 2007
Issuance of Common Shares
Issuance of Purchase Warrants
Stock Option Based Expense
Restricted Stock Amortization
Net Loss
Balance as of December 31, 2008
Issuance of Common Shares
Issuance of Purchase Warrants
Stock Option Based Expense
Restricted Stock Amortization
Net Loss
Balance as of December 31, 2009
Net Loss
Unrealized Losses on Available-for-Sale Investments
Comprehensive Loss
Issuance of Common Shares
Issuance of Purchase Warrants
Stock Option Based Expense
Restricted Stock Amortization
Balance as of December 31, 2010

Common Shares
Amount

13,815,186
289,504
—
—
—
—
14,104,690
3,095,752
—
—
—
—
17,200,442
—
313,166
—
—
—
17,513,608

$

$

$

$

Purchase Warrants
Warrants
Amount

33,415,106
268,757
—
1,097,432
17,798
—
34,799,093
16,796,617
—
1,795,246
154,438
—
53,545,394
—

1,204,169
—
910,000
—
—
—
2,114,169
—
1,204,400
—
—
—
3,318,569
—

90,448
—
3,048,750
332,644
57,017,236

—
20,000
—
—
3,338,569

$

$

$

$

3,038,411
—
339,987
—
—
—
3,378,398
—
4,257,196
—
—
—
7,635,594
—
—
639,915
—
—
8,275,509

$

$

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

(18,492,491)
—
—
—
—
(7,864,057)
(26,356,548)
—
—
—
—
(5,501,238)
(31,857,786)
(2,683,399)
—
—
—
—
(34,541,185)

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(213,623)
—
—
—
—
(213,623)

Total
Shareholder’s
Equity

$

$

$

$

17,961,026
268,757
339,987
1,097,432
17,798
(7,864,057)
11,820,943
16,796,617
4,257,196
1,795,246
154,438
(5,501,238)
29,323,202
(2,683,399)
(213,623)
(2,897,022)
90,448
639,915
3,048,750
332,644
30,537,937

ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For The Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
2010

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net (Loss)
Adjustments To Reconcile Net Loss To Net Cash Used In
Operating Activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Share Based Compensation — Non-employee warrants
Share Based Compensation- Employees
Loss (Gain) on Disposal of Assets
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable
(Increase) Decrease in Inventory
(Increase) Decrease in Other Assets
Increase (Decrease)in Accounts Payable
Increase in Other Liabilities
Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Cash Provided By (Used) In Operating Activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchase of Investments Available for Sale
Purchase of Equipment
Proceeds on Sale of Assets
Purchase of Intangible Assets
Cash (Used) In Investing Activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from Issuance of Common Shares and Purchase Warrants
Payments on Notes Payable and Capital Lease Obligations
Cash Provided By Financing Activities
Increase (Decrease) In Cash
Cash At Beginning Of Period
Cash At End Of Period

$

$

(2,683,399)

2009

$

(5,501,238)

2008

$

(7,864,057)

1,389,152
639,915
3,381,394
19,816

1,233,706
403,203
1,949,684
36,415

911,718
339,987
1,115,231
(7,534)

(1,014,674)
151,474
(690,750)
270,750
637,236
(645,964)
2,100,914

1,737,034
73,273
68,131
(1,822,215)
395,248
451,471
(1,426,759)

(542,427)
(602,574)
(133,412)
2,228,073
286,497
1,236,157
(4,268,498)

(12,151,721)
(772,364)
1,800
—
(12,922,285)

—
(1,595,999)
(4,949)
(1,600,948)

—
(1,268,498)
9,555
(903)
(1,259,846)

90,448
(43,723)
46,725
(10,774,646)
23,038,095
12,263,449

20,650,610
(181,453)
20,469,157
17,441,450
5,596,645
23,038,095

232,140
(204,243)
27,897
(5,500,447)
11,097,092
5,596,645

$

$

Supplemental Cash Flow disclosure
Interest Paid
Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activity — Equipment Acquired Under Capital Lease Obligations

2010

2009

2008

$9,701
$8,688

$25,179
$25,400

$52,361
$23,220

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Description of Business

We manufacture, sell and distribute hemodialysis concentrates and other ancillary medical products and supplies used in the treatment of patients with End Stage Renal Disease, or
“ESRD”. We supply our products to medical service providers who treat patients with kidney disease. Our products are used to cleanse patients’ blood and replace nutrients lost during the
kidney dialysis process. We primarily sell our products in the United States.
We are regulated by the Federal Food and Drug Administration under the Federal Drug and Cosmetics Act, as well as by other federal, state and local agencies. We have received
510(k) approval from the FDA to market hemodialysis solutions and powders. We also have 510(k) approval to sell our Dri-Sate Dry Acid Concentrate product line and our Dri-Sate Mixer.
We have obtained global licenses for certain dialysis related drugs which we are developing and seeking FDA approval to market. We plan to devote substantial resources to the
development, testing and FDA approval of our lead drug candidate.
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts for our wholly owned subsidiary, Rockwell Transportation, Inc.
All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue at the time we transfer title to our products to our customers consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Generally, we recognize revenue when
our products are delivered to our customer’s location consistent with our terms of sale. We recognize revenue for international shipments when title has transferred consistent with standard
terms of sale.
We require certain customers, mostly international customers, to pay for product prior to the transfer of title to the customer. Deposits received from customers and payments in
advance for orders are recorded as liabilities under Customer Deposits until such time as orders are filled and title transfers to the customer consistent with our terms of sale. At December 31,
2010 and 2009 we had customer deposits of $165,476 and $250,915, respectively.
Shipping and Handling Revenue and Costs
Our products are generally priced on a delivered basis with the price of delivery included in the overall price of our products which is reported as sales. Separately identified freight
and handling charges are also included in sales.
We include shipping and handling costs, including expenses of Rockwell Transportation, Inc., in cost of sales.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider cash on hand, money market funds and unrestricted certificates of deposit with an original maturity of 90 days or less as cash and cash equivalents.
Investments Available for Sale
Investments Available for Sale are short-term investments, consisting principally of investments in short term duration bond funds, and are stated at fair value based upon observed
market prices (Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy). Unrealized holding gains or losses on these securities are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains and
losses, including declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on
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available-for-sale securities are included as a component of other income or expense. There were no such realized gains or losses during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at invoice amounts. The carrying amount of trade accounts receivable is reduced by an allowance for doubtful accounts that reflects our best estimate
of accounts that may not be collected. We review outstanding trade accounts receivable balances and based on our assessment of expected collections, we estimate the portion, if any, of the
balance that may not be collected as well as a general valuation allowance for other accounts receivable based primarily on historical experience. All accounts or portions thereof deemed to
be uncollectible are written off to the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined on the first-in first-out (FIFO) method.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for normal maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Property and equipment are depreciated using the
straight-line method over their useful lives, which range from three to ten years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their useful lives or
the related lease term.
Licensing Fees
License fees related to the technology, intellectual property and marketing rights for dialysate iron covered under certain issued patents have been capitalized and are being amortized
over the life of the related patents which is generally 17 years.
Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Long Lived Assets
The recorded amounts of goodwill and other intangibles from prior business combinations are based on management’s best estimates of the fair values of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized; however, it must be tested for impairment at least annually. Amortization continues to be recorded for other
intangible assets with definite lives over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for potential impairment whenever events or circumstances
indicate that carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment review of goodwill, intangible assets, and property and equipment is performed annually or whenever a change in condition occurs which indicates that the carrying
amounts of assets may not be recoverable. Such changes may include changes in our business strategies and plans, changes to our customer contracts, changes to our product lines and
changes in our operating practices. We use a variety of factors to assess the realizable value of long-lived assets depending on their nature and use.
The useful lives of other intangible assets are based on management’s best estimates of the period over which the assets are expected to contribute directly or indirectly to our future
cash flows. Management annually evaluates the remaining useful lives of intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the
remaining amortization periods. It is reasonably possible that management’s estimates of the carrying amount of goodwill and the remaining useful lives of other intangible assets may
change in the near term.
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Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740-10, Income Taxes. A current tax liability or asset is recognized for the estimated taxes payable or
refundable on tax returns for the year. Deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognized for the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between book and tax accounting and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance is established for deferred tax assets if we determine it to be more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be
realized. The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.
The effects of tax positions are generally recognized in the financial statements consistent with amounts reflected in returns filed, or expected to be filed, with taxing authorities. For
tax positions that the Company considers to be uncertain, current and deferred tax liabilities are recognized, or assets derecognized, when it is probable that an income tax liability has been
incurred and the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable, or when it is probable that a tax benefit, such as a tax credit or loss carryforward, will be disallowed by a taxing authority.
The amount of unrecognized tax benefits related to tax positions is insignificant.
Research and Product Development
We recognize research and product development costs as expenses as incurred. We incurred product development and research costs related to the commercial development, patent
approval and regulatory approval of new products, including iron supplemented dialysate, aggregating approximately $3,422,000, $6,454,000 and $3,830,000 in 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
We are conducting human clinical trials on iron supplemented dialysate and we recognize the costs of the human clinical trials as the costs are incurred and services performed over
the duration of the trials.
Share Based Compensation
We measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for equity awards, including stock options, based on the grant date fair value of the awards in accordance with
ASC 718-10, Compensation — Stock Compensation. The cost of equity based compensation is recognized as compensation expense over the vesting period of the awards.
We estimate the fair value of compensation involving stock options utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model. This model requires the input of several factors such as the
expected option term, expected volatility of our stock price over the expected option term, and an expected forfeiture rate, and is subject to various assumptions. We believe the valuation
methodology is appropriate for estimating the fair value of stock options we grant to employees and directors which are subject to ASC 718-10 requirements. These amounts are estimates
and thus may not be reflective of actual future results or amounts ultimately realized by recipients of these grants.
Employee Retirement Plans
We are the sponsor of a non-contributory 401(k) Employee Savings Plan.
Net Earnings per Share
We computed our basic earnings (loss) per share using weighted average shares outstanding for each respective period. Diluted earnings per share also reflect the weighted average
impact from the date of issuance of all potentially dilutive securities, consisting of stock options and common share purchase warrants, unless inclusion
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would have had an antidilutive effect. Actual weighted average shares outstanding used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share were:
2010

Basic Weighted Average Shares Outstanding
Effect of Dilutive Securities
Diluted Weighted Average Shares Outstanding

17,111,535
-017,111,535

2009

14,709,016
-014,709,016

2008

13,836,435
-013,836,435

For 2010, 2009 and 2008, the dilutive effect of stock options and common share purchase warrants have not been included in the average shares outstanding for the calculation of
diluted loss per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive as a result of our net loss in these periods.
At December 31, 2010, potentially dilutive securities comprised 5,289,334 stock options exercisable at prices from $.55 to $8.35, 3,338,569 common share purchase warrants
exercisable at prices ranging from $1.99 to $10.00 and 310,000 unvested restricted common shares.
At December 31, 2009, potentially dilutive securities comprised 4,441,500 stock options exercisable at prices from $.55 to $8.35, 3,318,569 common share purchase warrants
exercisable at prices ranging from $1.99 to $10.00 and 150,000 unvested restricted common shares.
At December, 31, 2008, potentially dilutive securities comprised 4,063,031 stock options exercisable at prices from $.55 to $6.50, 2,114,169 common share purchase warrants
exercisable at prices ranging from $1.99 to $10.00 and 150,000 unvested restricted common shares.
Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of all significant financial instruments, comprising cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the
short maturities of these instruments.
Fair Market Value Measurements
Accounting standards require certain assets and liabilities be reported at fair value in the financial statements and provides a framework for establishing that fair value. The
framework for determining fair value is based on a hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into three broad levels, which are described
below:
Level 1:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest
priority to Level 1 inputs.

Level 2:

Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets, but corroborated by market data.

Level 3:

Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

In determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as
considering counterparty credit risk in its assessment of fair value. We value our available-for-sale investment securities, consisting solely of bond mutual funds, using Level 1 inputs in the
fair value hierarchy. We do not have other financial assets that would be characterized as Level 2 or Level 3 assets.
The Company also has certain non-financial assets that under certain conditions are subject to measurement at fair value on a non-recurring basis. No such measurements were
required in 2010 or 2009.
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Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accounting principles generally require that recognized revenue, expenses, gains, and losses be included in net income. Certain changes in assets and liabilities, however, such as
unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities, are reported as a direct adjustment to the equity section of the balance sheet. Such items, along with net income (loss), are
considered components of comprehensive income (loss).
Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
3.

Investments in Available for Sale Securities

We hold investments in available for sale securities in several short term bond funds. These funds generally hold high credit quality short term debt instruments. These debt
instruments are subject to changes in fair market value due to changes in interest rates. In the fourth quarter of 2010 we initially invested $12,000,000 in these funds and as of December 31,
2010 our gross investment in such funds aggregated $12,151,444 including interest and dividends income from these funds aggregating $151,773 in the fourth quarter of 2010 which were
reinvested in those funds. The market value of these investments was $11,938,098 as of December 31, 2010 and we recognized unrealized losses of $213,623 related to these investments.
The Company evaluated the near term interest rate environment, the expected holding period of the investments along with the duration of the fund portfolios in assessing the severity and
duration of the potential impairment. Based on that evaluation the Company does not consider those investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2010. No such
investments were made prior to the fourth quarter of 2010. During 2010 there were no sales proceeds or realized gains and losses on securities classified as available-for-sale.
4.

Significant Market Segments

We operate in one market segment which involves the manufacture and distribution of hemodialysis concentrates, dialysis kits and ancillary products used in the dialysis process to
hemodialysis clinics. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, one customer, DaVita, Inc., accounted for 42%, 50% and 51% of our sales, respectively. Our accounts
receivable from this customer were $2,336,526 and $1,267,500 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We are dependent on this key customer and the loss of its business would
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. One distributor accounted for 15% of our sales in 2010 and due to credit arrangements with this
distributor no accounts receivable were due as of December 31, 2010. No other customers accounted for more than 10% of our sales.
The majority of our international sales in each of the last three years were sales to domestic distributors that were resold to end users outside the United States. Our sales to foreign
customers and distributors were less than 5% of our total sales in 2010 and 2009. We have no assets outside the United States. Our total international sales, including sales to domestic
distributors for resale outside the United States, aggregated 23%, 12%, and 10% of overall sales in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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5.

Inventory
Components of inventory as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:
2010

Raw Materials
Work in Process
Finished Goods
Total
6.

$

$

2009

1,082,807
148,712
1,705,359
2,936,878

$

$

1,051,781
196,603
1,839,968
3,088,352

Property and Equipment
Major classes of property and equipment, stated at cost, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:
2010

Leasehold Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Information Technology & Office Equipment
Laboratory Equipment
Transportation Equipment

$

Accumulated Depreciation
Net Property and Equipment

$

2009

401,006
5,686,102
1,871,022
538,052
421,159
8,917,341
(5,867,828)
3,049,513

$

$

380,497
5,283,703
1,750,485
522,270
425,020
8,361,975
(4,730,426)
3,631,549

Included in the table above are assets under capital lease obligations as follows:
2010

Assets under Capital Lease Obligations
Net Book Value of Assets under Capital Lease Obligations

$84,832
45,332

2009

$658,028
318,350

Depreciation expense was $1,341,472 for 2010, $1,202,438 for 2009 and $881,025 for 2008.
7.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Total goodwill was $920,745 at December 31, 2010 and 2009. We completed our annual impairment tests as of November 30, 2010 and 2009, and determined that no adjustment for
impairment of goodwill was required.
We have entered into a global licensing agreement for certain patents covering a therapeutic drug compound to be delivered using our dialysate product lines. We intend to seek FDA
approval for this product. We have capitalized the licensing fees paid for the rights to use this patented technology as an intangible asset.
As of December 31, 2010 we had capitalized licensing fees of $375,005, net of accumulated amortization of $208,348. During 2010, we fully amortized the remaining portion of a
separate license agreement for vitamins and carnitine in dialysate when we determined the asset was impaired following the loss of patent protection for the product.
As of December 31, 2009 we had capitalized licensing fees of $375,387, net of accumulated amortization of $161,050.
Our policy is to amortize licensing fees over the life of the patents pertaining to the licensing agreements. We recognized amortization expense of $47,299 in 2010, $31,268 in 2009
and $30,693 in 2008. Estimated amortization
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expense for licensing fees for 2011 through 2016 is approximately $28,000 per year. One of the licensing agreements requires additional payments upon achievement of certain milestones.
8.

Capital Lease Obligations

We entered into capital lease obligations primarily related to equipment with a fair market value aggregating $8,688 and $25,400 for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. In addition, we have other capital lease obligations related to financing other equipment. These capital lease obligations require even monthly installments through 2013 and
interest rates on the leases range from 4% to 15%. These obligations under capital leases had outstanding balances of $26,965 and $62,000 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Future minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations are:
Year Ending December 31, 2011
Year Ending December 31, 2012
Year Ending December 31, 2013
Total minimum payments on capital lease obligations
Interest
Present value of minimum lease payments
Current portion of capital lease obligations
Long-term capital lease obligations
9.

$

$

20,062
7,150
2,410
29,622
( 2,657)
26,965
(18,215)
8,750

Operating Leases

We lease our production facilities and administrative offices as well as certain equipment used in our operations. The lease terms range from monthly to five years. We occupy a
51,000 square foot facility in Wixom, Michigan under a lease expiring in August 2012. We also occupy a 51,000 square foot facility in Grapevine, Texas under a lease expiring in December
2015. In addition, we lease a 57,000 square foot facility in Greer, South Carolina under a lease expiring February 2013.
Lease payments under all operating leases were $2,211,080, $2,191,884 and $2,132,731 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Future minimum rental payments under operating lease agreements are as follows:
Year ending December 31, 2011
Year ending December 31, 2012
Year ending December 31, 2013
Year ending December 31, 2014
Year ending December 31, 2015
Total

$

$
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10.

Income Taxes
A reconciliation of income tax expense at the statutory rate to income tax expense at our effective tax rate is as follows:
2010

Tax Expense Computed at 34% of Pretax Income
Effect of Permanent Differences Principally Related to Non-taxable government grants
Effect of Change in Valuation Allowance
Total Income Tax Benefit

$

$

2009

(912,000)
(83,000)
(995,000)
-0-

$

$

2008

(1,870,000)
—
(1,870,000)
-0-

$

$

(2,674,000)
—
(2,674,000)
-0-

The details of the net deferred tax asset are as follows:
December 31,
2010

Deferred tax assets:
Net Operating Loss Carryforward
Stock Based Compensation
Accrued Expenses
Inventories
Accounts Receivable
Subtotal
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Tax over Book Depreciation
Goodwill & Intangible Assets
Prepaid Expenses
Subtotal
Subtotal
Valuation Allowance
Net Deferred Tax Asset

$

$

10,130,000
2,208,000
73,000
82,000
8,000
12,501,000
230,000
261,000
47,000
538,000
11,963,000
(11,963,000)
-0-

2009

$

$

10,181,000
1,059,000
66,000
74,000
11,000
11,391,000
217,000
224,000
20,000
461,000
10,930,000
(10,930,000)
-0-

Deferred tax assets result primarily from net operating loss carryforwards. For tax purposes, we have net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $29,794,000 that expire
between 2012 and 2029 with approximately $975,000 expiring in 2012 and the remainder expiring between 2018 through 2030.
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. We recognized no income tax expense or benefit for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. Due to anticipated spending on research and development over the next several years, coupled with our limited history of operating income and our net
losses in 2010, 2009 and 2008, management has placed a full valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. The portion of the valuation
allowance resulting from excess tax benefits on share based compensation that would be credited directly to contributed capital if recognized in subsequent periods would be $1.1 million.
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Since January 1, 2007, the Company has accounted for its uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740-10, Income Taxes and the amount of unrecognized tax benefits related
to tax positions is not significant at December 31, 2010 and 2009.
11.

Capital Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 40,000,000 common shares, no par value per share, of which 17,513,608 shares were outstanding as of December 31, 2010, 17,200,442 shares
were outstanding as of December 31, 2009 and 14,104,690 shares were outstanding at December 31, 2008; 2,000,000 preferred shares, none of which were issued or outstanding at
December 31, 2010, 2009 or 2008 and 1,416,664 shares of 8.5% non-voting cumulative redeemable Series A Preferred Shares, $1.00 par value, of which none were outstanding at
December 31, 2010, 2009 or 2008.
During 2010, we issued 78,166 common shares from the exercise of stock options by employees and realized proceeds of $90,448. The weighted average exercise price of options
exercised was $1.16. The Board of Directors approved restricted stock grants totaling 235,000 shares in 2010.
During 2009, we also issued 3,095,752 common shares and 1,204,400 common share purchase warrants and realized net cash proceeds of $20,651,000. This total includes 2,840,000
common shares issued pursuant to a registered direct offering in October 2009 to institutional investors for which we received gross proceeds of $22,000,000 and net proceeds of
$20,388,000 after deducting investment banking fees, legal, registration, accounting and other expenses related to this offering. This registered direct offering consisted of a unit priced at
$7.75, which included one common share and a warrant to purchase .38 common shares per unit at an exercise price of $9.55 per share. For financial reporting purposes, the net proceeds
were allocated between common stock and warrants on a relative fair value basis.
During 2009, we issued 255,752 common shares from the exercise of 333,198 stock options by employees and realized proceeds of $262,654. The weighted average exercise price of
options exercised was $2.14.
During 2008, we issued 139,504 common shares as a result of the exercise of stock options by employees and realized proceeds of $232,140 or $1.66 per share on average. The Board
of Directors approved restricted stock grants totaling 150,000 common shares in 2008.
Common Shares
Holders of the common shares are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders and are to receive dividends when and if declared by the Board
of Directors. The Board is authorized to issue additional common shares within the limits of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation without further shareholder action, subject to applicable
stock exchange rules.
Warrants
We had 3,338,569 common share purchase warrants outstanding at December 31, 2010 of which 3,318,569 were exercisable as of December 31, 2010. During 2010, we issued 5,000
warrants with an exercise price of $8.00 in exchange for services and incurred an expense of $4,000 in 2010. These warrants are exercisable on or after September 1, 2011 and expire on
May 28, 2013. Also, pursuant to an agreement executed on March 8, 2010, we issued 15,000 warrants in exchange for services and incurred an expense of $46,600 in 2010 related to these
warrants. These warrants are exercisable on or after March 8, 2011, have an exercise price of $6.14 and expire on March 8, 2013. Also during 2010, we agreed to extend the term and revise
the exercise price of 100,000 warrants, issued in May 2008, in consideration for services. The exercise price of these warrants was lowered to $8.00 from $9.00 and their term extended by
one year to May 28, 2013. We recognized an expense of $102,000 in 2010 related to the change in terms in for these warrants.
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We had 3,318,569 common share purchase warrants outstanding at December 31, 2009 of which 1,694,169 were exercisable as of December 31, 2009. During 2009, we issued
1,164,400 warrants pertaining to our registered direct offering, consisting of 1,079,200 warrants exercisable at $9.55 with a five year term and 85,200 warrants exercisable at $9.55 with a
three year term. In addition, pursuant to an agreement executed in September 2008, 40,000 warrants issued in exchange for services were earned. These warrants have an exercise price of
$6.50 and expire on September 30, 2012.
We had 2,114,169 common share purchase warrants outstanding at December 31, 2008 of which 1,204,169 were exercisable as of December 31, 2008. During 2008, we issued
910,000 warrants, in exchange for services, that will be exercisable after time periods ranging from 1 to 2 years. Exercise prices for these warrants ranged from $1.99 to $9.00. Warrants
issued in 2008 expire between October 3, 2011 and September 30, 2012.
Warrants were valued using the Black Scholes model. The net proceeds from our 2009 registered direct offering and the private placement of our common shares and common share
purchase warrants in 2007 described above were prorated between the fair market value of our common shares issued and the Black Scholes valuation of the warrants. In 2010, 2009 and
2008 we recognized $640,000, $403,000 and $340,000 in expense related to services provided in exchange for warrants. At December 31, 2010, the amount of unrecorded expense for
services in exchange for warrants attributable to future periods was approximately $8,000 which is expected to be amortized to expense on a straight line basis over the remaining service
period in 2011.
Outstanding warrants by exercise price consisted of the following as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:
Exercise Price

Expiration Date

$9.55
$7.18
$1.99
$4.54
$7.00
$9.00
$8.00
$7.00
$9.55
$10.00
$7.50
$6.14
$6.50
Total
12.

10/5/2014
11/28/2012
11/5/2011
11/5/2011
11/5/2011
5/28/2012
5/28/2013
10/3/2011
10/5/2012
11/28/2012
10/3/2011
3/8/2013
9/30/2012

2010

2009

2008

1,079,200
1,079,169
300,000
200,000
200,000
—
105,000
90,000
85,200
80,000
45,000
15,000
60,000
3,338,569

1,079,200
1,079,169
300,000
200,000
200,000
100,000
—
90,000
85,200
80,000
45,000
—
60,000
3,318,569

—
1,079,169
300,000
200,000
200,000
100,000
—
90,000
—
80,000
45,000
—
20,000
2,114,169

Long Term Incentive Plan & Stock Options
Long Term Incentive Plan & Stock Options

The Board of Directors adopted the Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc., 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) on April 11, 2007. The shareholders approved the LTIP on May 24,
2007 and approved amendments to the LTIP on May 23, 2008, May 21, 2009 and May 27, 2010. There are 3,500,000 common shares reserved for issuance under the LTIP. The
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) is responsible for the administration of the LTIP including the grant of stock based awards and other financial
incentives including performance based incentives to employees, non-employee directors and consultants.
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Upon approval of the LTIP, the 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “Old Plan”) was terminated as to future grants. No options were granted under the Old Plan after 2006.
The Committee determines the terms and conditions of options and other equity based incentives including, but not limited to, the number of shares, the exercise price, term of option
and vesting requirements. The Committee approved stock option grants during 2010, 2009 and 2008 and restricted stock grants during 2010 and 2008 under the LTIP. The stock option
awards were granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock on the date of the grant. The options expire 10 years from the date of grant or upon termination
of employment and vest in three equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant.
We granted 235,000 restricted shares in 2010 and 150,000 restricted shares in 2008 under the LTIP. Restricted stock was granted with half of the shares vesting after 18 months from
the grant date and the remainder vesting after 36 months from the grant date with vesting conditioned upon continued employment with the Company. These restricted stock grants were
valued at the market price on the date of grant. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, we recognized $332,644, $154,438 and $17,800 in compensation expense for
restricted stock awards. The amount of unrecorded stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock awards attributable to future periods was approximately $1,336,142 as of
December 31, 2010.
Our standard stock option agreement allows for the payment of the exercise price of vested stock options either through cash remittance in exchange for newly issued shares, or
through non-cash exchange of previously issued shares held by the recipient for at least six months in exchange for our newly issued shares. The latter method results in no cash being
received by us, but also results in a lower number of total shares being outstanding subsequently as a direct result of this exchange of shares. Shares returned to us in this manner would be
retired.
In 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Company received cash proceeds of $90,448, $262,654 and $232,140, respectively, in exchange for shares issued upon the exercise of options during the
year. No income tax benefits were recognized during 2010, 2009 and 2008 related to stock option activity as the Company has a full valuation allowance recorded against its deferred tax
assets.
A summary of the status of the LTIP and the Old Plan is as follows:

Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2007
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2008
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2009
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2010

3,807,035
495,000
(139,504)
(99,500)
4,063,031
805,000
(333,198)
(93,333)
4,441,500
938,000
(78,166)
(12,000)
5,289,334
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Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

3.42
3.75
1.66
6.16
3.44
6.22
2.14
5.13
3.95
6.70
1.16
6.80
4.52

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$

14,034,941

$

308,740

$

4,557,158

$

1,037,689

$

16,604,310

$

369,887

$

17,879,160
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Options Exercisable
Options Outstanding
Range of
Exercise Prices

Number of
Options

$.55 to $1.50
$1.81 to $2.79
$2.98 to $4.55
$4.93 to $8.35
Total
Intrinsic Value

457,500
986,500
1,507,334
2,338,000
5,289,334
$

Remaining
Contractual
Life

.9-2.0 yrs.
2.6-4.5 yrs.
2.8-8.2 yrs.
6.8-9.8 yrs.
6.0 yrs.

17,879,160

Weighted
Exercise
Price

$
$
$
$
$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of
Options

0.63
2.31
3.91
6.61
4.52

457,500
986,500
1,319,556
916,667
3,680,223
$

$
$
$
$
$

15,227,883
Weighted
Average
Fair Market
Value at
Grant Date

Number of
Unvested
Options

As of December 31, 2007
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
As of December 31, 2008
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
As of December 31, 2009
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
As of December 31, 2010

0.63
2.31
4.03
6.50
3.76

755,000
495,000
(85,000)
(223,333)
941,667
805,000
(93,333)
(348,334)
1,305,000
938,000
(12,000)
(621,889)
1,609,111

$

2.33

$

6.22

$

4.07

The per share weighted average fair market values at the date of grant for options granted to employees during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $4.07. The fair market values
of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2010 was determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0.0%,
risk free interest rates of 1.45-2.8%, volatility of 65-67% and expected lives of 6 years. The per share weighted average fair market values at the date of grant for options granted to
employees during the year ended December 31, 2009 was $6.22. The fair market values of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2009 was determined using the Black
Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0.0%, risk free interest rates of 2.1-3.2%, volatility of 65-66% and expected lives of 6 years. The per share
weighted average fair market values at the date of grant for options granted to employees during the year ended December 31, 2008 was $2.33. The fair market values of stock options
granted during the year ended December 31, 2008 was determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0.0%, risk free interest
rates of 2.4-3.4%, volatility of 67-73% and expected lives of 6 years.
We believe this valuation methodology is appropriate for estimating the fair value of stock options we grant to employees and directors which are subject to ASC 718-10
requirements. We primarily base our determination of expected volatility through our assessment of the historical volatility of our common shares. We do not believe that we are able to rely
on our historical stock option exercise and post-vested termination activity to provide accurate
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data for estimating our expected term for use in determining the fair value of these options. Therefore, as allowed by Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 107, Share-Based Payment, we
have opted to use the simplified method for estimating the expected option term equal to the midpoint between the vesting period and the contractual term. The contractual term of the option
is 10 years from the date of grant and the vesting term of the option is three years from date of grant. Risk free interest rates utilized are based upon published U.S. Treasury yield curves at
the date of the grant for the expected option term.
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 we recognized compensation expense of $3,048,750, $1,795,246, and $1,097,431, respectively related to options granted to
employees under the LTIP with a corresponding credit to common stock. At December 31, 2010, the amount of unrecorded stock-based compensation expense for stock options attributable
to future periods was approximately $4,676,000 which is expected to be amortized to expense over the remaining three year vesting period of the options.
As of December 31, 2010, the remaining number of common shares available for equity awards under the LTIP was 310,333.
13.

Quarterly Results of Operations
The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.
First Quarter

2010
Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Selling, General and Administrative
Research and Product Development
Operating Income (Loss)
Interest and Dividend Income
Interest Expense
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
Net Income (Loss)
Basic And Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

$

Second Quarter

$

$

14,979,952
12,666,423
2,313,529
2,194,903
517,415
(398,789)
9,458
4,349
(393,680)
—
(393,680)

$

(.02)
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Third Quarter

$

$

15,506,712
12,735,047
2,771,665
2,221,336
441,273
109,056
10,926
3,065
116,917
—
116,917

$

.01

Fourth Quarter

$

$

14,745,414
12,345,221
2,400,193
2,431,367
727,978
(759,152)
17,257
1,462
(743,357)
—
(743,357)

$

14,322,514
11,947,062
2,375,452
2,460,015
1,735,468
(1,820,031)
157,577
825
(1,663,279)
—
(1,663,279)

$

(.04)

$

(.10)
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First Quarter

2009
Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Selling, General and Administrative
Research and Product Development
Operating Income (Loss)
Interest and Dividend Income
Interest Expense
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
Net Income (Loss)
Basic And Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

$

Second Quarter

$

$

12,796,772
11,603,825
1,192,947
1,560,815
1,338,310
(1,706,178)
—
9,265
(1,715,443)
—
(1,715,443)

$

(.12)
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Third Quarter

$

$

13,013,012
11,153,086
1,859,926
1,570,688
1,996,571
(1,707,333)
—
7,238
(1,714,571)
—
(1,714,571)

$

(.12)

Fourth Quarter

$

$

14,158,234
11,751,499
2,406,735
1,946,570
1,977,618
(1,517,453)
—
3,990
(1,521,443)
—
(1,521,443)

$

14,761,487
12,333,924
2,427,563
1,836,125
1,141,853
(550,415)
5,320
4,686
(549,781)
—
(549,781)

$

(.11)

$

(.03)

SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2010
Year ended December 31, 2009
Year ended December 31, 2008
Inventory Reserve:
Year ended December 31, 2010
Year ended December 31, 2009
Year ended December 31, 2008
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance:
Year ended December 31, 2010
Year ended December 31, 2009
Year ended December 31, 2008

Additions

Balance
at End
of Period

(Deductions)

$
$
$

31,472
96,751
69,073

$
$
$

2,927
9,840
28,213

$ (11,168)
$ (75,120)
$
(535)

$
$
$

23,231
31,472
96,751

$
$
$

32,455
98,345
132,209

$
$
$

56,748
27,169
93,497

$ (29,570)
$ (93,059)
$(127,361)

$
$
$

59,633
32,455
98,345

$
$
$

$11,963,000
$10,930,000
$ 8,658,000

$10,930,000
$ 8,658,000
$ 5,713,000

Allowances and reserves are deducted from the accounts to which they apply.
S-1

$1,033,000
$2,272,000
$2,945,000

Exhibit 10.39
[*

*]

Portions of the this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.
PRODUCTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS PRODUCTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), is entered into and effective as of the 16th day of February, 2011 (the “Effective Date”), by and between
Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc., a Michigan corporation (“Rockwell”), and DaVita Inc., a Delaware corporation (“DaVita”) on behalf of itself and the DaVita Facilities (as defined in
Recital B). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in Article XVIII.
RECITALS
A. Rockwell is in the business of manufacturing and selling dialysis products and supplies, including the dialysis products and supplies set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto and
incorporated herein by this reference (each a, “Product”, and collectively, the “Products”).
B. DaVita owns (in whole or in part) and/or manages dialysis and vascular access facilities, clinics or units located throughout the United States and its territories (each a, “DaVita
Facility”, and collectively, the “DaVita Facilities”).
C. DaVita, on behalf of itself and the DaVita Facilities, desires to purchase and acquire from Rockwell, and Rockwell desires to supply and sell to DaVita and the DaVita Facilities,
the Products, subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
In consideration of the foregoing premises and mutual covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
PURCHASE AND SALE OF PRODUCTS AND REPORTS
1.1 Sale and Purchase. During the Term (as defined in Section 2.2), and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Rockwell will sell, supply, convey, transfer, assign and
deliver the Products to DaVita and the DaVita Facilities in such quantities as DaVita and/or the DaVita Facilities may order from time to time.
1.2 Product Commitment. DaVita covenants and agrees [*

*]
1.3 Monthly Reports. Each month during the Term, Rockwell shall deliver a report to DaVita in accordance with DaVita’s specifications, which specifications will be given to
Rockwell by DaVita. Each monthly report, at a minimum, shall (a) show all purchases of the Products made by each DaVita Facility by Product or Product categories, (b) include
year-to-date purchase figures for each DaVita Facility, and (c) include any other information reasonably requested by DaVita relating to each DaVita Facility’s purchases of the Products
pursuant to this Agreement.
1.4 Notice of Changes to Product Labeling. If, at any time during the Term, Rockwell or any applicable Governmental Authority determines that there must be an amendment,
change, revision and/or modification to the product labeling, safety information, and/or any other information relating to any particular Product (a “Product Labeling Event”), Rockwell shall
within [*
*] of any such Product Labeling Event, deliver a written notice to DaVita which: (a) describes in reasonable detail any such Product Labeling Event, (b) explains in reasonable
detail the reasons and the causes for any such Product Labeling Event, and (c) includes a copy of such amendment, change, revision and/or modification to the product labeling, safety
information, and/or any other information relating to any such particular Product (the “Product Label Change Notice”). Rockwell shall respond to any questions, inquiries or requests for
additional information that DaVita or any DaVita Facility may have with respect
to any Product Label Change Notice and shall assist DaVita and the DaVita Facilities in understanding how, if at all, any Product Labeling Event may [*
*].
ARTICLE II
TERM AND TERMINATION
2.1 Term. This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date, and shall continue in effect until December 31, 2013 (the “Initial Term”), unless sooner terminated in accordance
with the provisions of this Article II.
2.2 Renewal. If, upon the expiration of the Initial Term, the parties hereto have not negotiated, executed and delivered (a) a new agreement relating to the subject matter hereof or
(b) an extension of this Agreement, this Agreement shall continue until the earlier of either party hereto providing ninety (90) days prior written notice of termination to the other party hereto
or the parties entering into a new agreement relating to the subject matter hereof or an extension of this Agreement (the Initial Term, together with any such extension shall be referred to as
the “Term”).
2.3 DaVita Termination Rights. This Agreement may be terminated by DaVita as follows:
(a) [*

*] in the event of a breach by Rockwell of any of its covenants and obligations set forth in Articles VI or IX; or

(b) Upon [*
*] prior written notice to Rockwell, in the event of a breach by Rockwell of any representation, warranty, covenant or obligation of Rockwell contained in
this Agreement (other than the covenants and obligations set forth in Articles VI or IX), and Rockwell fails to cure such breach within [*
*] following the date of such notice; or
(c) [*
*] upon the occurrence of any of the following: (i) Rockwell files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy seeking protection from creditors (a “Bankruptcy Filing”); or
(ii) Rockwell fails to contest an involuntary Bankruptcy Filing made against it or, despite contesting such
2

Bankruptcy Filing, fails to obtain its dismissal within sixty (60) days from its filing; or (iii) a trustee or custodian is appointed for a substantial portion of or all of the assets of
Rockwell; or (iv) Rockwell fails to pay its debts as they become due or admits its inability to do so (each of the foregoing, an “Insolvency Event”); or
(d) [*
§ 1320a-7b(f).

*] in the event there is a change in Rockwell’s status which excludes it from participation in any federal health care program, as defined under 42 U.S.C.

2.4 Rockwell Termination Rights. This Agreement may be terminated by Rockwell as follows:
(a) [*

*] in the event of a breach by DaVita of any of its covenants and obligations set forth in Article IX; or

(b) Upon [*
*] prior written notice to DaVita, in the event of a breach by DaVita of any representation, warranty, covenant or obligation of DaVita contained in this
Agreement (other than the covenants and obligations set forth in Article IX or Section 17.1), and DaVita fails to cure such breach within [*
*] following the date of such
notice; or
(c) [*

*] upon the occurrence of an Insolvency Event with respect to DaVita; or

(d) [*

*]
(e) Upon [*
*] advance written notice to DaVita in the event of a breach by DaVita of Section 17.1, and DaVita fails to cure such with breach within [*
the date of such notice; or
(f) [*
§ 1320a-7b(f).

*] following

*] in the event there is a change in DaVita’s status which excludes it from participation in any federal health care program, as defined under 42 U.S.C.

2.5 Effect of Termination. Termination of this Agreement will not release either party hereto from any liability or obligation which, at the time of such termination, has already
accrued or which thereafter may accrue in respect to any act or omission of any party hereto prior to such termination, nor will any such termination affect in any way the survival of any
right, duty or obligation of any party hereto, which is expressly stated elsewhere in this Agreement to survive the termination.
ARTICLE III
PURCHASE PRICE AND OTHER PRICING COVENANTS
3.1 Purchase Price. The purchase price for each Product is set forth on Exhibit A (collectively, the “Purchase Price”). The Purchase Price includes [*
3

*]. In the event that DaVita and/or any DaVita Facility requires any Product to be shipped outside of [*

*], DaVita and Rockwell shall [*

*]
3.2 Taxes. Rockwell covenants and agrees that neither DaVita nor any DaVita Facility shall be liable for any taxes including any excise, gross receipts, gross earnings, gross value, property, income taxes
measured on Rockwell’s income, or other taxes, other than applicable sales taxes, with respect to the purchase and sale of the Products.
3.3 Pricing Covenant. Rockwell represents and warrants to DaVita that [*

*]
3.4 [*

*]
3.5 Warrant. [*
*], Rockwell agrees to provide DaVita with a warrant in the form attached to this Agreement as Exhibit E (the “Warrant”) to purchase up to one hundred thousand (100,000) shares of
Rockwell’s common stock (the “Warrant Shares”). The Warrant Shares will have an exercise price equal to one hundred ten percent (110%) of the closing bid price per share of Rockwell’s common stock as quoted on
NASDAQ on (a) the trading date immediately preceding the date on which this Agreement is executed by the parties if such execution occurs at or before 4:00 p.m. Eastern time or (b) the date on which this Agreement
is executed by the parties if such execution occurs after 4:00 p.m. Eastern time. The Warrant will expire at the earlier of (i) the close of business on the ninetieth (90th) day immediately following the completion of the
Initial Term or (ii) the termination of this Agreement by Rockwell pursuant to Section 2.4. The Warrant will become exercisable on the first day immediately following the end of the Initial Term and may be exercised
in whole or in part at any time after it becomes exercisable until its expiration by the submission of an exercise notice in the form attached as an exhibit to the Warrant. If the Warrant expires prior to the date it
4

becomes exercisable, the Warrant shall not be exercisable. The Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrant shall bear a legend restricting transfer. The Warrants Shares shall not be
transferable and the Warrant shall bear a legend to that effect.
ARTICLE IV
PURCHASE ORDERS; DELIVERY; DEDICATED CUSTOMER SERVICE REPRESENTATIVE
4.1 Purchase Orders and Delivery. Each Product shall be delivered by Rockwell to DaVita and/or the DaVita Facilities pursuant to the terms of each purchase order submitted by
DaVita or any DaVita Facility. [*
4.2 Dedicated Customer Service Representatives. Rockwell hereby agrees and covenants that it shall provide DaVita with reasonable access to one or more dedicated customer
service representatives (each a, “Service Representative”) who shall be available to promptly respond to and address any issues that DaVita and/or any DaVita Facility may have with respect
to any of the Products (the “Customer Services”). Rockwell further agrees and covenants that each Service Representative shall perform the Customer Services in the highest professional
manner.
4.3 Return Goods Policy. Rockwell hereby represents and warrants to DaVita that attached hereto as Exhibit D is a true, correct and complete copy of Rockwell’s “Return Goods
Policy” (the “Return Goods Policy”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Return Goods Policy, DaVita or a DaVita Facility, as applicable, reserves the right to inspect all
Products and to reject any or all of the Products which are, in DaVita’s or a DaVita Facility’s, as applicable, sole and absolute discretion, incorrectly shipped, defective, damaged,
contaminated or otherwise not in compliance with the warranties granted or assigned hereunder. [*
*]
DaVita or any DaVita Facility shall also have the right to return any of the Products pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Return Goods Policy that do not conflict with this
Section 4.3. Rockwell shall provide DaVita with at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of any changes to the Return Goods Policy.
ARTICLE V
PAYMENT TERMS
All purchases by DaVita or any DaVita Facility of Products pursuant to this Agreement shall be paid on terms [*
portion
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*]. DaVita or any DaVita Facility may withhold payment on the

of any invoice for which DaVita or such DaVita Facility, as applicable, has a bona fide dispute if it: (a) pays all undisputed amounts, (b) notifies Rockwell of such invoice dispute, and
(c) provides to Rockwell a reconciliation of charges and any documentation necessary to support its claimed adjustment. The parties hereto agree to use their commercially reasonable efforts
to resolve any such invoice dispute within [*
*] of Rockwell’s receipt of such invoice dispute notice from DaVita or any DaVita Facility, as applicable.
ARTICLE VI
FAILURE TO SUPPLY
In the event of Rockwell’s failure or inability to supply any Product within and for the time period required by DaVita or any DaVita Facility, as applicable, including as a result of a
force majeure event (e.g. act of God, fire, casualty, flood, war, act of terrorism, strike, lockout, labor trouble, failure of public utilities, injunction, epidemic, riot, insurrection or any other
circumstances beyond the reasonable control of the party asserting it) (a “Failure to Supply Event”), Rockwell covenants and agrees that it shall (a) give notice [*
*] under the
circumstances to DaVita of such Failure to Supply Event, unless an order of a regulatory agency or other action arising out of patient safety concerns requires the giving of shorter notice; [*

*] Rockwell further covenants and agrees that during the period that a Failure to Supply Event is occurring, none of the Committed DaVita Facilities shall be subject to the Product
Commitment.
ARTICLE VII
[*

*]

Rockwell agrees and covenants to DaVita that it shall, at all times during the Term, to allow for the continuous and uninterrupted supply of each of the Products to DaVita and the
DaVita Facilities to enable the physicians at the DaVita Facilities to treat their patients: [*
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*] Rockwell and DaVita agree to continuously work together and use their best efforts to increase and improve the [*
exclusively by DaVita and the DaVita Facilities.

*] for each Product maintained by Rockwell for use

ARTICLE VIII
ADDITIONAL PRODUCTS AND REPLACEMENT PRODUCTS
8.1 Additional Products. Throughout the Term, Rockwell shall provide to DaVita and the DaVita Facilities the right to purchase and/or lease all current or new products
manufactured, utilized, licensed, sold or distributed by Rockwell or any of its Affiliates (including products and product lines acquired by Rockwell or any of its Affiliates as a result of an
acquisition, merger or other transaction involving Rockwell or any of its Affiliates) that are or that become Commercially Available and which are not already covered by this Agreement or
by any other agreement, whether written or oral, between the parties hereto (such products are collectively referred to as “Additional Products” and individually as an “Additional Product”).
Rockwell agrees to include DaVita in all of its and its Affiliates distributions of customer announcements regarding Rockwell’s or its Affiliates’ Additional Products. The purchase price for
any such Additional Products shall be negotiated by the parties hereto in good faith and the
agreed upon purchase price shall be memorialized in writing as a supplement or amendment to this Agreement. Rockwell covenants and agrees that it shall only make an offer for the sale of
any Additional Product(s) to DaVita’s Vice-President of Clinical Operations, Chief Medical Officer, or Vice-President of Purchasing, and not to any DaVita Facility directly; provided that
the purchase of any Additional Product by DaVita or any DaVita Facility through a Rockwell product catalog made generally available to the dialysis community shall not be a breach by
Rockwell of this Section 8.1. If Rockwell or any of its Affiliates acquires any Additional Product(s) as a result of an acquisition, merger or other transaction involving Rockwell or any of its
Affiliates with a Person with which DaVita or a DaVita Facility, as applicable, already has a purchase or rebate arrangement whether written or oral (a “Prior Agreement”), Rockwell or such
Affiliate covenants and agrees that it shall continue to abide by all of the terms and conditions of such Prior Agreement or if DaVita requests, such Additional Product(s) shall be included in
this Agreement on terms to be negotiated and determined by the parties hereto as provided in this Section 8.1.
8.2 Replacement Products. If at anytime during the Term, Rockwell or any of its Affiliates introduces a product or offering that is a replacement for an existing Product covered by
this Agreement, whether developed by Rockwell or any of its Affiliates or acquired by Rockwell or any of its Affiliates in connection with any transaction (a “Replacement Product”),
Rockwell will allow (or will cause its Affiliate to allow) DaVita or any DaVita Facility, as applicable, to purchase such Replacement Product at the same price as the Product it is replacing or
is ultimately intended to replace.
ARTICLE IX
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION COVENANTS
9.1 Confidential Information.
(a) No Disclosure of Confidential Information. The Non-Disclosing Party (as defined in Article XVIII) agrees that in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the relationship of the parties hereto, it will have access to Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party (as defined in Article XVIII) and that such Confidential
Information is vital, sensitive, confidential and proprietary to the Disclosing Party. Therefore, the Non-Disclosing Party agrees that during the Term and
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for the longest time permitted under applicable law after the Term, that it will (i) hold any Confidential Information delivered or communicated to it by the Disclosing Party in the strictest
confidence, including taking all reasonable precautions to prevent the inadvertent disclosure of the Confidential Information to any unauthorized third party or parties and (ii) not, at any time
without the Disclosing Party’s express written consent, which consent may be withheld by the Disclosing Party in its sole and absolute discretion (A) disclose, reproduce, display, perform,
record, broadcast, transmit, distribute, modify, translate, combine with other information or materials, create derivative works based on, exploit commercially or otherwise use the
Confidential Information in any manner or medium whatsoever, (B) disclose or publicize any of the Confidential Information or the terms of this Agreement to any third party or parties, or
(C) discuss with, or otherwise disclose or reveal to, any third party or parties any information relating to the Disclosing Party’s business or the Non-Disclosing Party’s duties or
responsibilities to the Disclosing Party, regardless of whether such information constitutes Confidential Information. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Non-Disclosing
Party shall have the right to disclose any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement upon any determination by the Non-Disclosing Party that such disclosure is necessary in connection
with the compliance by the Non-Disclosing Party with any legal requirement, including applicable obligations and requirements pursuant to federal and state securities laws and listing
standards.
(b) Retention and Destruction of Confidential Information. The Non-Disclosing Party shall not take or retain any Confidential Information that is in written, email, computerized,
model, sample, or other form capable of physical delivery, upon or after the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement for any reason without the prior written consent of the
Disclosing Party, which consent may be withheld by the Disclosing Party in its sole and absolute discretion. At any time upon the request of the Disclosing Party, the Non-Disclosing Party
shall promptly redeliver to the Disclosing Party or destroy all written materials containing or reflecting any information contained in the Confidential Information (including all copies,
extracts or other reproductions) and agree to destroy all documents, memoranda, notes and other writings whatsoever (including all copies, extracts or other reproductions), prepared by the
Non-Disclosing Party based on the information contained in the Confidential Information.
Notwithstanding the return or destruction of the Confidential Information, the Non-Disclosing Party will continue to abide by its obligations of confidentiality and other obligations
hereunder.
(c) Exceptions to Confidential Information. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Confidential Information shall not include any information that (i) was already known to
the Non-Disclosing Party at the time of disclosure by the Disclosing Party free of any restriction, (ii) is generally available to the public or becomes publicly known through no wrongful act
of the Non-Disclosing Party, or (iii) is received by the Non-Disclosing Party from a third-party who has a legal right to provide such information to the Non-Disclosing Party.
(d) Use of Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property. Each party hereto agrees not to internally or externally use, release, publish or distribute any materials or information
(including advertising and promotional materials) containing the names, tradenames, or trademarks or other intellectual property right of the other party hereto without the express prior
written consent of such other party hereto.
(e) Disclosures of Confidential Information Required By Law. In the event that the Non-Disclosing Party is required by law (by oral questions, interrogatories, request for
information or documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or any other similar process) to disclose any Confidential Information, the Non-Disclosing Party agrees to provide the
Disclosing Party with prompt written notice of such request(s) (but in no event later than [*
*] after the receipt of such request(s)) and shall consult with the Disclosing Party as to the
advisability of taking legally advisable
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steps to resist or narrow such request(s). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if disclosure of such Confidential Information is required by law, the Non-Disclosing Party will (i) furnish only that
portion of the Confidential Information which, in the reasonable opinion of the Non-Disclosing Party’s counsel, after consultation with the Disclosing Party’s counsel, it is legally obligated
to disclose, and (ii) use its best efforts to obtain an order or other reliable assurances that confidential, non-public treatment will be accorded to all such disclosed Confidential Information.
(f) Employees, Agents, Representatives, Etc. For purposes of this Section 9.1, any Confidential Information received by any director, officer, member, manager, partner, employee,
agent, subcontractor, advisor or representative of the Non-Disclosing Party pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be deemed received by the Non-Disclosing Party and
any breach by such persons of this Section 9.1 shall be deemed a breach by the Non-Disclosing Party of this Agreement.
9.2 Enforcement. The Non-Disclosing Party expressly acknowledges and agrees that the restrictions contained herein are reasonable in terms of duration and scope restrictions and
are necessary to protect the Confidential Information and the goodwill of the business of the Disclosing Party, and the Non-Disclosing Party agrees that it shall not challenge the validity or
enforceability of the restrictions contained herein. The Non-Disclosing Party agrees that money damages would not be an adequate remedy for any breach of this Article IX. Therefore, in the
event of a breach or threatened breach of the provisions of this Article IX by the Non-Disclosing Party, the Disclosing Party may, in addition to other rights and remedies existing in its favor,
apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for specific performance and/or injunctive or other relief in order to enforce or prevent any violation of the provisions of this Article IX (without
proving monetary damages or posting a bond or other security).
ARTICLE X
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF ROCKWELL
Rockwell hereby represents and warrants to DaVita as follows:
10.1 Standing and Authority. Rockwell has the requisite corporate power, right and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby. Rockwell’s execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary
corporate action on the part of Rockwell.
10.2 Execution; Delivery; Binding Effect. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Rockwell, and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of
Rockwell, enforceable against Rockwell in accordance with its terms.
10.3 No Conflicts. Neither the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by Rockwell nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement,
shall (a) conflict with, contravene or result in a breach of any statute or administrative regulation, or of any law, rule, regulation, ordinance, order, writ, injunction, judgment, or
decree of any Governmental Authority or of any arbitration award to which Rockwell is a party or by which any of the properties or assets of Rockwell are or may be bound; or
(b) conflict with, contravene or violate any agreement, understanding or arrangement to which Rockwell is a party or by which any of the properties or assets of Rockwell are or may
be bound.
10.4 Title. Rockwell possesses good and marketable title to all of the Products free and clear of any and all liens, mortgages, charges, security interests, pledges or other
encumbrances or adverse claims of any nature, whether arising by agreement, operation of law or otherwise (collectively, “Liens”).
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Rockwell has the right to convey and in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will convey to DaVita and/or the DaVita Facilities, as applicable, good and
marketable title to all of the Products acquired hereunder, free and clear of any and all Liens.
10.5 Licenses, Permits, and Compliance with Laws. Rockwell has all rights, licenses, permits and consents necessary to sell the Products to DaVita and the DaVita Facilities
and to perform its obligations hereunder during the Term. Rockwell is and has at all times been in and during the Term shall be in compliance with all federal, state and local laws,
statutes, rules, and regulations applicable to its business and the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. No Product delivered hereunder during the Term is or will be
adulterated or misbranded within the meaning of the FFDCA, or within the meaning of any applicable state or municipal law, or is or will be a product which may not be introduced
into interstate commerce. During the Term, Rockwell shall immediately inform DaVita following its receipt of any information which states that the integrity or legal status of any
Product provided hereunder has been called into question by any retailer, wholesaler, or state or federal authority, or that any Product sold to DaVita or any DaVita Facility hereunder
is suspected of being counterfeit, stolen, adulterated, misbranded or otherwise an unlawful product and shall provide DaVita with prompt written confirmation of any such event,
including copies of any and all documents related thereto. DaVita’s and the DaVita Facilities’ use of the Products in accordance with their intended use shall not infringe upon any
ownership rights of any other Person or upon any patent, copyright, trademark, or other intellectual property or proprietary right or trade secret of any third party.
10.6 Products. Each Product purchased during the Term [*

*]
10.7 Expired Product. Rockwell will use its best efforts not to ship to DaVita or any DaVita Facility expired Product [*

*]
10.8 Health Care Programs. Rockwell is not currently (a) named on any of the following lists (i) HHS/OIG List of Excluded Individuals/Entities, (ii) GSA List of Parties
Excluded from Federal Programs or (iii) OFAC “SDN and Blocked Individuals” and (b) under investigation or otherwise aware of any circumstances which would result in Rockwell
being excluded from participation in any federal health care program, as defined under 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(f).
All warranties granted or assigned under this Article X will continue in full force and effect notwithstanding transfer of title to any Product to or by DaVita or any DaVita Facility to
any other
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DaVita Facility. All warranties granted under this Agreement shall survive inspection, acceptance and payment of the Products.
ARTICLE XI
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF DAVITA
DaVita hereby represents and warrants to Rockwell as follows:
11.1 Standing and Authority. DaVita has the requisite corporate power, right and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby. DaVita’s execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary
corporate action on the part of DaVita.
11.2 Execution; Delivery; Binding Effect. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by DaVita, and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of DaVita,
enforceable against DaVita in accordance with its terms.
11.3 No Conflicts. Neither the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by DaVita nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement,
shall (a) conflict with, contravene or result in a breach of any statute or administrative regulation, or of any law, rule, regulation, ordinance, order, writ, injunction, judgment, decree
of any Governmental Authority or of any arbitration award to which DaVita is a party or by which any of the properties or assets of DaVita are or may be bound; or (b) conflict with,
contravene or violate any provision of any agreement, understanding or arrangement to which DaVita is a party or by which any of the properties or assets of DaVita are or may be
bound.
11.4 Compliance with Laws. DaVita has all rights, licenses, permits and consents necessary to perform its obligations hereunder during the Term. DaVita is and has at all
times been in and during the Term shall be in compliance with all federal, state and local laws, statutes, rules, and regulations applicable to its business and the performance of its
obligations under this Agreement.
11.5 Health Care Programs. DaVita is not currently (a) named on any of the following lists (i) HHS/OIG List of Excluded Individuals/Entities, (ii) GSA List of Parties
Excluded from Federal Programs or (iii) OFAC “SDN and Blocked Individuals” and (b) under investigation or otherwise aware of any circumstances which would result in DaVita
being excluded from participation in any federal health care program, as defined under 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(f).
ARTICLE XII
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE
12.1 Indemnification of DaVita. Rockwell agrees to defend, indemnify and hold DaVita, its Affiliates and the DaVita Facilities and each of their respective directors, officers,
members, managers, partners, employees and agents (collectively, the “DaVita Indemnitees”) harmless from and against any and all causes of action (at law or in equity), actions, claims,
costs, suits, liabilities, judgments, settlements, demands, losses, damages, proceedings and/or expenses of all kinds (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, witnesses’ fees, investigation
expenses, and any other expenses incident thereto) (collectively, “Losses”) that the DaVita Indemnitees may sustain or incur as a result of [*
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*]
12.2 Indemnification of Rockwell. DaVita agrees to defend, indemnify and hold Rockwell and its Affiliates and each of their respective directors, officers, members, managers,
partners, employees and agents (collectively, the “Rockwell Indemnitees”) harmless from and against any and all Losses that the Rockwell Indemnitees may sustain or incur as a result of [*

*]
12.3 Indemnification Procedure for Third Party Claims. If any DaVita Indemnitee or any Rockwell Indemnitee entitled to indemnification under this Article XII (the “Indemnified
Party”) receives notice of the assertion of any claim, or the commencement of any suit, action or proceeding by any Person who is not a party hereto or an Affiliate of a party hereto (a “Third
Party Claim”) against such Indemnified Party, the Indemnified Party shall give written notice regarding such Third Party Claim to the party hereto that is required to provide indemnification
under this Article XII (the “Indemnifying Party”) within [*
*] after learning of such Third Party Claim. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right, upon written notice to the
Indemnified Party (the “Defense Notice”) within [*
*] after receipt from the Indemnified Party of notice of such Third Party Claim, which Defense Notice by the Indemnifying Party
shall specify the counsel it will appoint to defend such Third Party Claim (“Defense Counsel”), to conduct at its expense the defense against such Third Party Claim in its own name, or if
necessary in the name of the Indemnified Party; provided, however, that: (a) the Indemnified Party shall have the right to approve the Defense Counsel, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed by the Indemnified Party and (b) as a condition precedent to the Indemnifying Party’s right to assume control of such defense, the
Indemnifying Party must first enter into an agreement with the Indemnified Party (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party) pursuant to which the
Indemnifying Party agrees to be fully responsible for any and all Losses relating to such suit Third Party Claim and
unconditionally guarantees the payment and performance of any and all Losses which may arise with respect to such Third Party Claim, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this
Section 12. The Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to assume control of, but may participate in, and the Indemnified Party shall have the sole right to assume control of any Third
Party Claim which: (i) seeks a temporary restraining order, a preliminary or permanent injunction or specific performance against the Indemnified Party, (ii) involves criminal or quasicriminal allegations against the Indemnified Party, (iii) if unsuccessful would set a precedent that would materially interfere with, or have a material adverse effect on, the business or
financial condition of the Indemnified Party, or (iv) imposes liability in the part of the Indemnified Party for which the Indemnified Party is not entitled to indemnification under this
Article XII. If the Indemnifying Party is permitted to assume and control the defense of any Third Party Claim and elects to do so, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to employ
counsel separate from counsel employed by the Indemnifying Party in any such Third Party Claim and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel
employed by the Indemnified Party shall be at the expense of the Indemnified Party unless (A) the employment thereof has been specifically authorized by the Indemnifying Party in writing,
(V) the Indemnified Party has been advised by counsel that a reasonable likelihood exists of a conflict of interest between the Indemnifying Party and
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the Indemnified Party, or (C) the Indemnifying Party has failed to assume the defense and employ counsel, in which case the fees and expenses of the Indemnified Party’s counsel shall be
paid by the Indemnifying Party. No Indemnifying Party shall consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement of any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of
the Indemnified Party if (w) such judgment or settlement would lead to liability or create any financial or other obligation on the part of the Indemnified Party for which the Indemnified
Party is not entitled to indemnification hereunder, (x) such judgment or settlement would result in the finding or admission of any violation of any federal, state or local law, statute,
ordinance or regulation, (y) such judgment or settlement does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by each claimant or plaintiff to each Indemnified Party of a release from
all liability in respect to such Third Party Claim, or (z) as a result of such judgment or settlement, injunctive or other equitable relief would be imposed against the Indemnified Party. In the
event that the Indemnifying Party fails to give the Defense Notice within [*
*] of receiving notice of such Third Party Claim from the Indemnified Party, it shall be deemed to have
elected not to conduct the defense of such Third Party Claim, or in the event the Indemnifying Party does deliver a Defense Notice within [*
*] of receiving notice of such Third Party
Claim from the Indemnified Party and thereby elects to not conduct the defense of such Third Party Claim, then in either such event the Indemnified Party shall have the right to conduct and
control the defense of such Third Party Claim in good faith and to compromise and settle such Third Party Claim or consent to the entry of a judgment of such Third Party Claim in good
faith without the prior consent of the Indemnifying Party. A failure by the Indemnified Party to give timely, complete or accurate notice as provided in this Section 12.3 will not affect the
rights or obligations of the Indemnifying Party except and only to the extent that, as a result of such failure, the Indemnifying Party entitled to receive such notice was deprived of its right to
recover any payment under its applicable insurance coverage or was otherwise directly and materially damaged as a result of such failure to give timely notice.
12.4 Indemnification Procedure for Direct Claims. In the event the Indemnified Party should have a claim against the Indemnifying Party hereunder which does not involve a Third
Party Claim (a “Direct Claim”), such Indemnified Party shall transmit to the Indemnifying Party a written notice (the “Direct Indemnification Notice”) containing an estimate of the amount
of damages attributable to such Direct Claim and the basis of such Indemnified Party’s request for indemnification under this Article XII within [*
*] after learning of such Direct
Claim. If the Indemnifying Party does not notify such Indemnified Party in writing within [*
*] from its receipt of the Direct Indemnification Notice that the Indemnifying Party
disputes the Direct Claim set forth in such Direct Indemnification Notice, the Direct Claim specified by such Indemnified Party in such Direct Indemnification Notice shall be deemed a
liability of the Indemnifying Party hereunder. If the Indemnifying Party has timely disputed the Direct Claim set forth in such Direct Indemnification Notice, as provided in this Section 12.4,
such Direct Claim set forth in such Direct Indemnification Notice shall be resolved by litigation.
12.5 [*

*]
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ARTICLE XIII
RECALL
In the event the FDA initiates a mandatory recall (i.e. the correction or removal of a Product) or Rockwell believes in its sole discretion that it may be necessary to conduct a recall
(i.e. the correction or removal of a Product), field market withdrawal, stock recovery, or other similar action with respect to any of the Products (a “Recall”), Rockwell shall immediately
notify DaVita of such Recall. [*

*]
ARTICLE XIV
OPEN RECORDS AND DISCOUNTS
14.1 Open Records. To the extent required by § 1861(v)(1)(I) of the Social Security Act, the parties hereto will allow the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the
U.S. Comptroller General, and their duly authorized representatives, access to this Agreement and any records necessary to verify the nature and extent of costs incurred pursuant to this
Agreement during the Term and for four (4) years following the last date any Products are furnished by Rockwell to DaVita or any DaVita Facility under this Agreement. If Rockwell carries
out its obligations under this Agreement through a subcontract worth Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) or more over a twelve (12) month period with a related
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organization, the subcontract shall also contain an access clause to permit access by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the U.S. Comptroller General, and their duly
authorized representatives to the related organization’s books and records. Nothing in this Section 14.1 is intended to waive any right either party hereto may have under any applicable laws
or regulations to retain in confidence information included in records so requested.
14.2 Discounts. Any discounts, rebates, incentives, and/or other reductions in price issued by Rockwell to DaVita and/or any DaVita Facility under this Agreement may constitute a
discount within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(3)(A). DaVita and the DaVita Facilities may have an obligation to properly disclose and appropriately reflect any such discounts,
rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price to any state or federal program that provides cost or charge based reimbursement to DaVita and/or any such DaVita Facility for the items
to which such discounts, rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price apply. In order to assist DaVita’s and the DaVita Facilities’ compliance with any such obligations, Rockwell
agrees that it shall fully and accurately report all discounts, rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price on the invoices, coupons or statements submitted to DaVita or any DaVita
Facility and inform DaVita and/or any such DaVita Facility of their obligations to report such discounts, rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price. In the event the value of any
discounts, rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price are not known at the time of sale, Rockwell shall fully and accurately report the existence of such discounts, rebates, incentives
and/or other reductions in price on the invoices, coupons or statements submitted to DaVita and/or any DaVita Facility, inform DaVita and/or any DaVita Facility of their obligations to report
such discounts, rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price, and when the value of such discounts, rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price becomes known, provide DaVita
and/or any DaVita Facility with documentation of the calculation of such discounts, rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price and identifying the specific Products purchased to
which such discounts, rebates, incentives and/or other reductions in price will be applied. Rockwell shall also provide to DaVita and/or any DaVita Facility any other information that DaVita
and/or any DaVita Facility may request that is necessary for them to obtain in order to comply with any such obligations, and Rockwell shall refrain from doing anything which would
impede DaVita and/or any DaVita Facility from meeting their obligations under this Section 14.2 or any Medicare regulation.
ARTICLE XV
ACCESS AND POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
Rockwell acknowledges and agrees that (a) DaVita has informed Rockwell that copies of all of DaVita’s applicable vendor relations policies and procedures (the “Policies and
Procedures”) that will be in effect during the Term will be available for viewing by Rockwell during the Term by going to: http://www.davita.com/about/company/?id=3902 and (b) Rockwell
shall abide by all such Policies and Procedures during the Term. Rockwell understands and agrees that it must obtain DaVita’s prior written approval of all proposed educational, marketing
and promotional materials and of all presentations made by Rockwell relating to any of the Products or any other Rockwell products, which approval may only be given in writing by
DaVita’s Vice President, Clinical Operations or his authorized representative. DaVita’s Vice President, Clinical Operations or his authorized representative agrees to notify Rockwell of his
decision within [*
*] following receipt of such request; otherwise, such request will be deemed denied. No personnel or agent of Rockwell shall be permitted to access any DaVita
Facility without the prior written consent of DaVita’s Vice President, Clinical Operations or his authorized representative.
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ARTICLE XVI
AUDIT
If DaVita disagrees with any computation or statement delivered by Rockwell to DaVita or any DaVita Facility under this Agreement, DaVita may, within [*
*] after the receipt
of such computation or statement, audit any such computation or statement. DaVita shall conduct any such audit during such times as may be mutually agreed to by the parties hereto. In the
event that DaVita’s audit results in a number different from that set forth in the computation or statement delivered by Rockwell to DaVita or any DaVita Facility, DaVita shall deliver a
written notice (an “Objection Notice”) to Rockwell setting forth in reasonable detail any and all items of disagreement related to such computation or statement. If DaVita does not deliver an
Objection Notice within such [*
*] period, the calculations set forth in any such computation or statement shall be deemed final, conclusive and binding on the parties hereto. Rockwell
and DaVita will use their commercially reasonable efforts to resolve any disagreements relating to any computation or statement, but if they do not obtain a final resolution within [*
*]
after Rockwell has received the Objection Notice, then either Rockwell or DaVita may refer the items in dispute to a nationally recognized firm of independent public accounts as to which
DaVita and Rockwell mutually agree (the “Firm”), to resolve any remaining disagreements. Rockwell and DaVita will direct the Firm to render a determination within [*
*] of its
retention, and Rockwell and DaVita and their respective agents and employees will cooperate with the Firm during its engagement. The determination of the Firm will be conclusive and
binding upon DaVita and Rockwell, and DaVita or Rockwell, as applicable, will make any payment owed to other party hereto within [*
*] of the Firm’s determination. The Firm shall
execute a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to Rockwell and DaVita. [*
*]
ARTICLE XVII
ADDITIONAL ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES
17.1 [*

*]
17.2 Business Model Change. [*
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*]
17.3 Mixer Training. [*

*] complete and appropriate training regarding the use and maintenance of the Dri-Sate® Acid Mixer [*

*].
17.4 [*

*]
ARTICLE XVIII
CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS
The following terms as used herein have the following meaning:
“Affiliate” means, with respect to a Person, any Person that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with,
such Person.
“Business Day” means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or a public holiday on which banks are authorized or required to be closed under the laws of the State of California.
“Commercially Available” means any product that is approved by the FDA and manufactured, utilized, sold or distributed anywhere in the United States by Rockwell and/or any of
its Affiliates.
“Confidential Information” means information not generally known outside the disclosing party and/or any of its Affiliates (collectively, the “Disclosing Party”) (unless as a result of
a breach of any of the non-disclosing party’s and/or any of its Affiliates’(collectively, the “Non-Disclosing Party’s”) obligations imposed by this Agreement) or which is identified as
confidential by the Disclosing Party to the Non-Disclosing Party concerning the Disclosing Party’s business and technical information, whether in written, computerized, oral, tangible or
intangible or other form, including: (a) the terms and provisions of this Agreement, (b) any and all trade secrets concerning the business, customers and affairs of the Disclosing Party,
product specifications, data, know-how, formulae, compositions, processes, designs, sketches, photographs, graphs, drawings, samples, inventions and ideas, past, current and planned
research and development, current and planned manufacturing and distribution methods and processes, customer lists, current and anticipated customer requirements, price lists, market
studies, business plans, clinical practices and patient protocols, computer software and programs (including object code and source code), database technologies, systems, improvements,
devices, discoveries, concepts, methods, and information of the Disclosing Party and any other information of the Disclosing Party, however documented, that is a trade secret under
applicable law, (c) any and all information concerning the business and affairs of the Disclosing Party, including historical financial statements, financial projections and budgets, rebates,
discounts, payment terms, pricing, historical and projected sales, capital spending
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budgets and plans, contractual arrangements, the names and background of key personnel, contractors, agents, customers, suppliers and potential suppliers, personnel training and techniques
and materials, purchasing methods and techniques, however documented, (d) the names and addresses, records and charts and any other information concerning the Disclosing Party’s
patients, and (e) any and all notes, analysis compilations, studies, summaries and other materials prepared by or for the Disclosing Party containing or based, in whole or in part, upon any
information included in the foregoing.
“FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration and any successor thereto.
“FFDCA” means the United States Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938 and all regulations promulgated thereunder.
“Governmental Authority” means any multi-national, national, state, provincial, local, governmental, judicial, public, quasi-public, administrative, regulatory or self-regulatory
authority, agency, commission, board, organization or instrumentality.
“Person” means any individual or any group of individuals or any general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, limited liability company, professional limited
liability company, corporation, joint venture, trust, business trust, cooperative or association or any other organization that is not a natural person and any combination of any such entity or
organization and any natural persons acting in concert, and the heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns of any “person” where the context so permits.
“Sale of DaVita” means any transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which any Person or group of related Persons in the aggregate acquire(s) (a) securities of DaVita
possessing the voting power to elect a majority of DaVita’s board of directors (whether by merger, consolidation, reorganization, combination, sale or transfer of DaVita’s securities,
securityholder or voting agreement, proxy, power of attorney or otherwise) or (b) all or substantially all of DaVita’s assets.
“Sale of Rockwell” means any transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which any Person or group of related Persons in the aggregate acquire(s) (a) securities of Rockwell
possessing the voting power to elect a majority of Rockwell’s board of directors (whether by merger, consolidation, reorganization, combination, sale or transfer of Rockwell’s securities,
securityholder or voting agreement, proxy, power of attorney or otherwise) or (b) all or substantially all of Rockwell’s assets.
“Transfer” means (a) any Sale of Rockwell, (b) Sale of DaVita, or (c) any sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, mortgage, exchange, hypothecation, grant of a security interest or other
direct or indirect disposition or encumbrance of an interest (including by operation of law) or the rights thereof. The term “Transferred,” and other forms of the word “Transfer” shall have
correlative meanings.
ARTICLE XIX
MISCELLANEOUS
19.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments. This Agreement, including its recitals and exhibits, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes any and all prior
representations, warranties, statements, promises, agreements and understandings between the parties hereto, whether oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof, and no party hereto
shall be bound by
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nor charged with any written or oral representations, warranties, statements, promises, agreements and understandings not specifically set forth in this Agreement. No amendments or
modifications of the terms of this Agreement, including any conflicting or additional terms contained in any sales order, purchase order, acknowledgment form, or other written document
submitted by either party hereto, shall be binding on either party hereto unless reduced to writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of each party hereto.
19.2 Notices. All notices given pursuant to this Agreement shall be sent by: (a) certified mail, return receipt requested, in which case notice will be deemed delivered three
(3) Business Days after deposit, postage prepaid in the United States mail; (b) a nationally recognized overnight courier, in which case notice will be deemed delivered one (1) Business Day
after deposit with such courier; or (c) personal delivery. Addresses of the parties hereto are as follows:
To Rockwell:

Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc.
30142 Wixom Road
Wixom, Michigan 48383
Attention: Chief Executive Officer

To DaVita:

DaVita Inc.
15253 Bake Parkway
Irvine, California 92618
Attention: Vice-President of Purchasing

With a copy to:

DaVita Inc.
601 Hawaii Street
El Segundo, California 90245
Attention: General Counsel

The above addresses may be changed by written notice to the other party hereto, provided that no notice of a change of address will be effective until actual receipt of such notice.
19.3 Choice of Law. All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction)
that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the laws of the State of Delaware.
19.4 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY
CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS OR EVENTS
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS (WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF ANY
PARTY HERETO. THE PARTIES HERETO EACH AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL SUCH CLAIMS AND CAUSES OF ACTION SHALL BE TRIED BY THE COURT
WITHOUT A JURY. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO FURTHER WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO SEEK TO CONSOLIDATE ANY SUCH LEGAL PROCEEDING IN WHICH
A JURY TRIAL HAS BEEN WAIVED WITH ANY OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDINGS IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL CANNOT OR HAS NOT BEEN WAIVED.
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19.5 Attorneys Fees. In the event of any legal proceeding between the parties hereto with respect to this Agreement, the enforceability of any of its provisions or any alleged or actual
breach of this Agreement by any party hereto, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s fees and all other costs and expenses incurred in connection with pursuing
any action with respect thereto, in addition to any other relief to which such party may be entitled. The term “prevailing party” shall mean with respect to each claim asserted in a complaint
the party in whose favor final judgment after appeal (if any) is rendered with respect to such claim asserted in the complaint.
19.6 Non-Limitation of Rights and Remedies. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the various rights and remedies provided herein shall be cumulative and in addition to
any other rights and remedies the parties hereto may be entitled to pursue at law or equity. The exercise of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not impair the right of either party
hereto to exercise any other right or remedy at law or equity.
19.7 Waiver. No waiver by any party hereto, whether express or implied, of its rights under any provision hereto shall constitute a waiver of the party’s rights under such provisions
at any other time or a waiver of the party’s rights under any other provision hereto. No failure by any party hereto to take any action against any breach of this Agreement or default by
another party hereto shall constitute a waiver of the former party’s right to enforce any provision of this Agreement or to take action against such breach or default or any subsequent breach
or default by the other party hereto. To be effective any waiver must be in writing and signed by the waiving party.
19.8 Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable in any respect, such provision shall be enforced to the fullest extent
permitted by law and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. If any such invalid portion constitutes a material term of this Agreement, the parties
hereto shall meet and in good faith seek to mutually agree to modify this Agreement so as to retain, if possible, the overall essential terms of this Agreement.
19.9 Conflicts. To the extent that any provision of any sales order, purchase order, invoice, or any other document, or the terms of any of Rockwell’s general policies, terms and
conditions, procedures or catalogs, conflict with or alter any term of this Agreement, this Agreement shall govern and control.
19.10 Assignment and Transfer. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto. This Agreement may not be Transferred by any party hereto
without the prior written consent of the other party hereto; provided however that nothing in this Agreement shall or is intended to limit the ability of DaVita to Transfer this Agreement, in
whole or in part, without the consent of Rockwell to: (a) any Affiliate of DaVita; (b) any buyer in connection with a Sale of DaVita; or (c) any lenders of DaVita as collateral for borrowings.
19.11 Relationship of the Parties. This Agreement is not intended to create and shall not be construed as creating between Rockwell and DaVita the relationship of Affiliate, principal
and agent, joint venture, partnership, or any other similar relationship, the existence of which is hereby expressly denied. Neither party hereto shall have (nor shall it hold itself out as having)
any right, power or authority to make or incur any legally binding agreement, obligation, representation, warranty or commitment on behalf of the other party hereto or to direct any action of,
or activity by the other party hereto or any of its officers, directors, members, managers, employees or agents.
19.12 Counterparts; Facsimile/PDF Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and any party hereto may execute any such counterpart, each of
which when
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executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which counterparts taken together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall become binding
when one or more counterparts taken together shall have been executed and delivered by each of the parties hereto. It shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any
counterpart hereof to produce or account for any of the other counterparts. The parties hereto agree that facsimile transmission or PDF of original signatures shall constitute and be accepted
as original signatures.
19.13 Headings and Interpretation. All Section and Article headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, do not form a part of this Agreement and
shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Words used herein, regardless of the number and gender specifically used, shall be deemed and construed to
include any other number, singular or plural, and any other gender, masculine, feminine, or neuter as the context requires. The words “include”, “includes” and “including”, and words of
similar import, shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation”. Unless the context expressly by its terms requires otherwise, (a) any reference to any law herein shall be
construed as referring to such law as from time to time enacted, repealed or amended, (ii) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s permitted successors
and assigns, (iii) the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision
hereof, and (iv) all references herein to Sections, Articles, or Exhibits shall be construed to refer to Sections, Articles, or Exhibits of this Agreement.
19.14 Joint Preparation. Each party hereto: (a) has participated in the preparation of this Agreement; (b) has read and understands this Agreement; and (c) has been represented by
counsel of its own choice in the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement. Each party hereto represents that this Agreement is executed voluntarily and should not be construed against
any party hereto solely because it drafted all or a portion hereof.
19.15 Time of Essence. Rockwell’s obligation to meet the delivery dates or any other time periods set forth herein is of the essence.
19.16 Survival. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary that may be contained elsewhere in this Agreement, this Article XIX and Articles II, VI, IX, X, XI, XII and XIII shall
survive, and remain in full force and effect, following the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason.
19.17 Business Day. If any payment is due, or any time period for giving notice or taking action expires, on a day that is not a Business Day, the payment shall be due and payable
on, and the time period for giving such notice or taking such action shall automatically be extended to, the next succeeding Business Day.
19.18 Public Announcements. Except as otherwise required pursuant to any applicable federal or state securities laws or stock listing requirements, no party hereto shall make any
public announcement of any kind or any filing with respect to the other party hereto or any of the transactions provided for herein without the prior written consent of the other party hereto.
Except as otherwise required pursuant to any applicable federal or state securities laws or stock listing requirements, any press release or other announcement or notice regarding the other
party hereto or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be by joint press release mutually agreed to in writing by the parties hereto.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be effective as of the Effective Date.
ROCKWELL:

DAVITA:

ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

DAVITA INC.

By: /s/ Rob Chioini

By: /s/ LeAnn Zumwalt

Print Name: Rob Chioini

Print Name: LeAnn Zumwalt

Title: CEO

Title: VP

Time of Signature: 2/16/11 3:40 p.m.

Time of Signature: 2/16/11

Approved as to form:
DAVITA INC.
By: /s/ Jon Kweller
Print Name: Jon Kweller
Title: Deputy General Counsel

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO PRODUCTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT]

EXHIBIT A
PRODUCTS AND PURCHASE PRICE

See attached.
A-1

EXHIBIT A; 2011
Price Quote Standard Formulas
CATALOG #

DESCRIPTION

PACKAGING

[*

*]
NOTE:
• [*

*]
• [*

*]

30142 Wixom Road o Wixom, MI 48393 o (248) 960-9009 o Fax (248) 960-9119 o (800) 449-3353
A-2

UNIT

PRICE

EXHIBIT B
[*

*]

See attached.
B-1

EXHIBIT B; 2011
The purchase price for the Products as set forth on Exhibit A is applicable in the following states:
[*

*]

[*

*]

[*

*]

30142 Wixom Road o Wixom, MI 48393 o (248) 960-9009 o Fax (248) 960-9119 o (800) 449-3353
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EXHIBIT C
DAVITA SHIPPING AND ORDER REQUIREMENTS

See attached.
C-1

EXHIBIT C; 2011
DAVITA SHIPPING & ORDERING GUIDELINES
GENERAL GUIDELINES APPLICABLE TO ALL PRODUCTS (DRI-SATE® DRY ACID CONCENTRATE, RENALPURE® LIQUID ACID CONCENTRATE,
RENALPURE® BICARBONATE POWDER, STERILYTE® LIQUID BICARBONATE, CITRAPURE® DRY ACID and LIQUID ACID CONCENTRATE and CLEANING
AGENTS)
1. [*

*]

2. [*

*]

3. [*

*]

4. [*

*]

5. [*

*]

6. [*

*]

NOTE: [*

*]

SPECIFIC ADDITIONAL GUIDELINES FOR CERTAIN PRODUCTS
[*

*]

30142 Wixom Road o Wixom, MI 48393 o (248) 960-9009 o Fax (248) 960-9119 o (800) 449-3353
C-2

EXHIBIT D
RETURN GOODS POLICY

See Item 3 of Exhibit C.
D-1

EXHIBIT E
WARRANT

See attached.
E-1

THIS STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS. IT MAY NOT BE
OFFERED, SOLD OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS
OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED. THIS WARRANT IS ALSO SUBJECT TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON
TRANSFER SET FORTH IN SECTION 5 HEREOF.
WARRANT TO PURCHASE SHARES
OF COMMON STOCK, NO PAR VALUE, OF
ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
February 16, 2011
THIS STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT (“Warrant”) CERTIFIES THAT, for value received, subject to the provisions hereinafter set forth, DaVita Inc. (the “Holder”) is entitled to purchase from Rockwell
Medical Technologies, Inc., a Michigan corporation, and its successors and assigns (the “Company”) up to 100,000 shares (the “Warrant Shares”) of common stock of the Company, no par value (the “Common Stock”).
This Warrant is the “Warrant Agreement” issued in accordance with that certain Products Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 16, 2011, between the Company and Holder (the “Agreement”). This Warrant is
subject to the provisions and adjustments, and exercise hereof is subject to and will be made on the terms and conditions, hereinafter set forth.
The following is a statement of the rights of the Holder of this Warrant and the terms and conditions to which this Warrant is subject, to which terms the Holder hereof, by acceptance of this Warrant, assents.
1.

EXERCISE OF WARRANT

(a) The Warrant shall become exercisable in full on the first day immediately following the end of the Initial Term (as defined in the Agreement) (the “Exercise Date”). The exercise price for the Warrant Shares
is $10.25 per share (the “Exercise Price”). On and after the Exercise Date, subject to the conditions set forth herein, this Warrant may be exercised in whole at any time or in part from time to time until the close of
business on the Expiration Date (as defined below) by the Holder by the surrender of this Warrant at the principal office of the Company, accompanied by a signed notice of exercise in the form attached hereto and
payment to the Company of the Exercise Price in the manner set forth below for each of the Warrant Shares intended to be purchased. Such payment shall be made by Holder to the Company in the form of cash, a
certified or cashier’s check or by means of the cashless method described in Section 1(b) of this Warrant. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Warrant to the contrary, this Warrant shall not be deemed exercised
until payment in full of the applicable Exercise Price for the
E-2

Warrant Shares to be purchased has been received by the Company as specified in this Section 1. The Warrant will expire at the earlier of (i) the close of business on the 90th day immediately following the completion
of the Initial Term (as defined in the Agreement), or (ii) the termination of the Agreement by the Company pursuant to Section 2.4 thereof (the earlier of such dates being the “Expiration Date”). If the Expiration Date
shall occur prior to the Exercise Date, the Warrant shall expire without becoming exercisable.
(b) The Holder may exercise the Warrant by the surrender of this Warrant at the principal office of the Company on or before the Expiration Date together with a written notice of cashless exercise, in which
event the Company shall issue to the Holder the number of shares of Common Stock determined as follows:
X = (Y x (A-B))/A
where:
X = the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued to the Holder;
Y = the number of Warrant Shares with respect to which this Warrant is being exercised;
A = the average of the high and low trading prices per share of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market for the five trading days immediately preceding (but not including) the date of exercise.
B = the Exercise Price (as adjusted to the date of such calculation).
2.

ADJUSTMENTS

(a) In the event the Company shall (i) pay a dividend to the holders of Common Stock in shares of Common Stock, (ii) subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a greater number of shares, or
(iii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then (A) the number of Warrant Shares that, at such time, remain available for purchase pursuant to this Warrant (“Available
Warrant Shares”) shall be adjusted so that such amount is equal to the number of shares of Common Stock which Holder would have owned immediately after such event had the number of Available Warrant Shares
immediately prior to the occurrence of such event been owned on the record date for such event and (B) the Exercise Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to such event by
a fraction (x) the numerator of which is the total number of outstanding shares of Common Stock immediately prior to such event, and (y) the denominator of which shall be the total number of outstanding shares of
Common Stock immediately after such event. Such adjustment shall become effective immediately after the opening of business on the day following such record date or the day upon which such dividend, subdivision
or combination becomes effective.
(b) In the event the Company shall (i) issue by reclassification of its Common Stock any shares of the Company of any class or series, (ii) merge or consolidate with or into another entity (other than a merger in
which the Company is the surviving entity and which does not result in any reclassification of the outstanding shares of Common Stock), (iii) sell or otherwise convey to another entity all or substantially all of the assets
of the
3

Company followed by the distribution of the proceeds thereof to the shareholders of the Company, or (iv) engage in a share exchange involving all or substantially all of the stock of the Company, then the Holder shall
thereafter be entitled to receive upon the exercise of this Warrant, instead of the Available Warrant Shares, the consideration which the Holder would have owned immediately after such event had the Available Warrant
Shares been owned immediately prior to the occurrence of such event.
(c) No adjustment shall be required unless such adjustment would require an increase or decrease of at least one-tenth of a share in the number of Warrant Shares, or at least one-tenth of a cent in the Exercise
Price; provided, however, that any adjustment which by reason hereof is not required to be made shall be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment.
(d) No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon exercise of this Warrant. The number of shares issued shall instead be rounded down to the nearest whole share and any fractional share
disregarded.
(e) In the event that, as a result of an adjustment made pursuant to this Section 2, the Holder shall become entitled to receive any shares of capital stock of the Company other than shares of Common Stock, the
number of such other shares so receivable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be subject thereafter to adjustment from time to time in a manner and on terms as nearly equivalent as practicable to the provisions with
respect to the Warrant Shares contained in this Warrant.
(f) The Company shall not, by amendment of its Articles of Incorporation or through any reorganization, recapitalization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any
other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms to be observed or performed hereunder by the Company, but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all
of the provisions of this Section 2.
3.

FULLY PAID STOCK

The Company agrees that the Warrant Shares delivered upon exercise of this Warrant as herein provided shall, at the time of such delivery, be fully paid and non-assessable, and free from all liens and charges
with respect to the purchase thereof. During the period within which this Warrant may be exercised for Common Stock, the Company will at all times have authorized, and hold in reserve for issuance upon exercise of
this Warrant, a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock to provide for the exercise of this Warrant.
4.

LOST OR STOLEN WARRANTS

In case this Warrant shall be mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Company shall issue a new Warrant of like date, tenor, and denomination and deliver the same in exchange and substitution for and upon
surrender and cancellation of any mutilated
4

Warrant, or in lieu of the lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant, upon receipt of an indemnity agreement or bond from Holder reasonably satisfactory to the Company.
5.

ASSIGNMENT

This Warrant may not be Transferred (as defined below) without the prior written consent of the Company; provided, however, that if the Agreement is Transferred in accordance with the terms thereof, this
Warrant may be Transferred to the transferee of the Agreement. A “Transfer” means any sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, mortgage, exchange, hypothecation, grant of a security interest or other direct or indirect
disposition or encumbrance of an interest (including by operation of law) or the rights thereof. The Company shall deem and treat the Holder (or any successor holder to whom this Warrant is Transferred in accordance
with this Section 5) as the absolute owner of this Warrant, notwithstanding any notations of ownership or writing hereon made by anyone other than the Company, for all purposes and shall not be affected by any notice
to the contrary. Any attempted Transfer of this Warrant without compliance with this Section 5 shall be null and void.
6.

SECURITIES MATTERS
(a) Neither this Warrant nor the Warrant Shares have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), or any applicable “Blue Sky” laws.

(b) By exercising this Warrant, Holder (or any successor holder to whom this Warrant is Transferred in accordance with Section 5) is deemed to represent and warrant to the Company that (i) Holder is an
“accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D promulgated under the Act and was not organized for the purpose of acquiring the Warrant or the Warrant Shares; (ii) Holder’s financial condition is such
that it is able to bear the risk of holding the Warrant Shares for an indefinite period of time and could afford a complete loss on such investment; (iii) Holder has sufficient knowledge and experience in investing in
companies similar to the Company so as to be able to evaluate the risks and merits of its investment in the Company and has so evaluated the risks and merits of such investment, understands that an investment in the
Warrant Shares involves a significant degree of risk, including a risk of total loss of Holder’s investment, and understands the risk factors included, or that may be included in the future, in the Company’s periodic
reports filed from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission; (iv) Holder acknowledges that the Company has made available copies of its annual, quarterly and other reports and documents filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 14(a), 14(c) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information incorporated in such reports and documents by
reference, and acknowledges that, a reasonable time before Holder’s exercise of the Warrant, it has reviewed such reports and documents, has had the opportunity to ask questions about the Company and the Warrant
Shares, that such questions have been answered to Holder’s satisfaction, and that it has obtained all other information with respect to an investment in the Warrant Shares that it has requested from the Company; and
(v) Holder is acquiring the Warrant Shares for its own account for investment and not for resale or with a view to distribution thereof in
5

violation of the Securities Act of 1933. Except to the extent that the sale of the Warrant Shares by the Company upon exercise of the Warrant has been registered under the Act, each and every certificate representing
Warrant Shares delivered upon exercise of this Warrant shall bear the following legend:
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS.
SUCH SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND
ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.
(c) Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, the Company’s obligation to sell and deliver Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of this Warrant is subject to its receipt of satisfactory assurance that the
issuance of such shares shall not violate any of the provisions of the Act or the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission promulgated thereunder. No Warrant Shares shall be issued until counsel
for the Company has determined that the Company has complied with all requirements under applicable securities laws.
7.

NO RIGHTS AS SHAREHOLDER
Nothing contained in this Warrant shall be construed as conferring upon the Holder any rights as a shareholder of the Company.

8.

MISCELLANEOUS

(a) All covenants and agreements of the Company in this Warrant shall be binding upon the Company’s successors and assigns. All covenants and provisions hereof by or for the benefit of the Holder shall bind
and inure to the benefit of its successors and permitted assigns hereunder.
(b) This Warrant shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan without regard to choice of law principles that would compel the application of the law of any other
jurisdiction.
(c) Except as provided in Section 2, this Warrant may be amended only with the written consent of the Company and the Holder.
(d) Any notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be sufficiently given if in writing and delivered in person or sent by United States mail, by registered mail, postage prepaid, or by
courier or express delivery service (including, without limitation, Federal Express and UPS), and if to the Holder, addressed to the Holder at 15253 Bake Parkway, Irvine, California 92618, Attention: Vice6

President of Purchasing, and if to the Company, addressed to it at 30142 Wixom Road, Wixom, Michigan 48393, Attention: Chief Financial Officer, or to such other address or attention as shall be furnished in writing
by the Company or the Holder. Any such notice or other communication shall be deemed to have been given as of the date received.
(e) In the event of any conflict between this Warrant and the Agreement, the terms of this Warrant shall control.
7

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Warrant to be signed by a duly authorized officer and this Warrant to be dated as of the date set forth above.

ROCKWELL MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By:
Its:
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NOTICE OF EXERCISE
Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc.
30142 Wixom Road
Wixom, Michigan 48393
Attention: Chief Financial Officer
A Warrant was issued to the undersigned as of February 16, 2011 to purchase up to 100,000 shares of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. common stock at the exercise price set forth in the Warrant. The
undersigned hereby elects to exercise the Warrant with respect to
shares. Payment of the exercise price is being made by (check one):

/

/ cash;

/

/ certified or cashier’s check delivered with this notice;

/

/

cashless exercise method described in Section 1(b) of the Warrant.
The stock certificate for the shares acquired upon exercise should be issued to:
(name)
(address)
(Social Security No. or EIN)
By:
Its:
Dated:
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements on Forms S-3 (Registration No.’s. 333-135872, 333-148601, 333-160791, and 333-160710) and Forms S-8 (Registration No.’s 333-66791, 333126627, 333-135896, 333-146817, 333-153046, 333-160135, and 333-169003) of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary of our reports dated March 7, 2011 on the consolidated financial statements and
related financial statement schedule of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010 and on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiary for the year
ended December 31, 2010.
Clinton Township, Michigan
March 7, 2011

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
I, Robert L. Chioini, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date:

March 7, 2011
/s/ Robert L. Chioini
Robert L. Chioini
Chairman, CEO and President

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
I, Thomas E. Klema, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date:

March 7, 2011
/s/ Thomas E. Klema
Thomas E. Klema
Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Rockwell Medical Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof (the “Periodic Report”), I, Robert L. Chioini, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and I, Thomas E. Klema, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. the Periodic Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. the information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: March 7, 2011

/s/ Robert L. Chioini
Robert L. Chioini
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 7, 2011

/s/ Thomas E. Klema
Thomas E. Klema
Chief Financial Officer

